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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good morning.

          3  I'm Eva Moskowitz, Chair of the Education Committee.

          4  I apologize that we're starting this hearing a

          5  little bit late.

          6                 We are joined by Council Member Helen

          7  Foster from the Bronx. Thank you so much for being

          8  here.

          9                 We are here today to have a hearing

         10  on two bills; one is by Council Member Miguel

         11  Martinez, who I believe will be joining us shortly.

         12  Both of these are reporting bills, one having to do

         13  specifically with transportables, the number, the

         14  location. Obviously we have some of our districts in

         15  our schools that have severe overcrowding and some

         16  of these transportables have been in use now, I

         17  believe up to as long as 20 years, and I think it's

         18  very, very important for communities to have a sense

         19  of that history and some sense of where these are,

         20  how long they've been there and what the plan is

         21  vis-a-vis transportables.

         22                 I know as a public school parent

         23  myself that I certainly would be very dismayed to

         24  have my child educated in a temporary unit.

         25  Obviously, given the great expense of a Capital
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          2  Plan, it's unfortunately without CFE money, and even

          3  perhaps with CFE money, I am eager to hear, you

          4  know, when we can really expect not to have

          5  transportable units at all. But certainly it's

          6  understandable that as an interim solution, that was

          7  the way we had to go, but I think what's happened is

          8  an interim solution has in essence become a

          9  permanent solution, and obviously those children who

         10  are being educated in those kinds of facilities,

         11  rightly so, feel that they are being educated in

         12  adequate space.

         13                 The bill that I am the author of, the

         14  class size transparency act, is generated by a great

         15  deal of frustration that parents have that they

         16  cannot tell based on the school report cards what is

         17  the class size, and it also leads us into discussion

         18  which I think are somewhat unproductive about

         19  whether class size has or has not been reduced. If

         20  we're all working with the same set of facts, then

         21  we shouldn't have that kind of problem.

         22                 Right now the only thing you can

         23  tell, as i understand it, is if you go on the school

         24  report cards, you can see the average class size,

         25  and from a consumer's point of view, that does you
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          2  absolutely no good.

          3                 You don't want to know what the

          4  average is. What you care about is when you send

          5  your precious bundle off to kindergarten or off to

          6  middle school or off to high school, you want to

          7  know what is the class size that your child will be

          8  facing and experiencing.

          9                 And even, by the way, in terms of the

         10  data on the school report cards, the data is missing

         11  for certain grades, for 11th grade you can't even

         12  tell the average. I don't know why that would be,

         13  but it often says not available.

         14                 We have an example, I believe in the

         15  handout. It's on the back of the witness schedule.

         16  So, you'll see that for tenth, 11th and 12th grade,

         17  it's not reported at all, and for K through 9 you're

         18  only getting average.

         19                 Again, what parents want to know is,

         20  at a particular school, what can they expect the

         21  class size to be.

         22                 And we know the Department of

         23  Education has that information, because as I

         24  understand it, some time in October, you close, or

         25  there is some reporting mechanism, so that each
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          2  school is required to say how many kids they have in

          3  the building, at what grade level.

          4                 So, as far as I can tell, the only

          5  thing that this bill would entail is your posting

          6  that information that you already have. If that's

          7  not the case, obviously we'd like to understand if

          8  it is more complicated.

          9                 But parents report to me that class

         10  size is one of their central concerns. It's probably

         11  the complaint I hear most often from parents,

         12  particularly, used to be more exclusively in the

         13  early grades, I am finding that the largest number

         14  of complaints that I receive is now in the fourth

         15  grade, where parents are very, very unhappy.

         16                 I don't know if that's exacerbated by

         17  the high stakes fourth grade test, but I get

         18  complaints, and I forget what the limit is, I think

         19  it's 36.

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thirty-two.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thirty-two,

         22  even to fourth grade?

         23                 Well, I get a lot of complaints that

         24  it's 36, 38. So, I think that's concern.

         25                 Obviously there are different
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          2  academic research on when class size reduction gives

          3  you the biggest bang for the buck. We're not really

          4  here to debate that at this moment. Really the

          5  purpose of today's hearing is to get at the public's

          6  ability to know the size and nature of the problem

          7  we're dealing with.

          8                 Let me give Council Member Martinez

          9  an opportunity to speak about his bill. I mentioned

         10  it generally but we're so glad that you're here, and

         11  thank you very much.

         12                 Council Member Martinez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair. And I want to thank you for the

         15  opportunity and your leadership and your help in

         16  moving this bill forward.

         17                 We're speaking about bill 550, an

         18  Intro that is looking to have, by law, the

         19  Department of Education report. I believe that we as

         20  legislators, parents, teachers, and the entire

         21  citizenry of the City of New York should have the

         22  right to know the actual capacity of our school

         23  buildings.

         24                 I know that when we look at the

         25  different reports that are provided by the
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          2  Department of Education, in terms of capacity it

          3  changes yearly, or whenever there is an amendment.

          4                 For example, in 200, in the report

          5  for 2002, 2003, I'll give you an example of George

          6  Washington High School, it tells you that it's a

          7  total capacity of 1,766. Then when we look at the

          8  capacity of the same school building for 2003/2004,

          9  is now telling us that it's 2,325.

         10                 Now, what we need to know as

         11  legislators, and what parents need to know, what are

         12  the number of temporary and non-standard classrooms

         13  in our local building? What is it that the

         14  Department of Education is categorizing as an

         15  adequate space for a classroom and what is not? What

         16  is being converted into a classroom, and what was it

         17  before?

         18                 Those are informations that we're not

         19  getting, and I think that when we deal with the

         20  issue of school capacity and we get that straight

         21  denial, where it will also enhance the ability to

         22  know the overcrowding condition in the building.

         23  Because the fact that we're converting a

         24  non-standard classroom into a classroom, doesn't

         25  alleviate the overcrowding and the population in the
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          2  school buildings.

          3                 So, I want to thank you for that, and

          4  hopefully working with the Department of Education

          5  we could draft policy that will set standards as for

          6  what is a temporary classroom and non-standard

          7  classrooms in the area.

          8                 I know that the Department of

          9  Education now has a commitment to remove those

         10  mobile temporary structures that are in the

         11  building. I think now more than ever we need to have

         12  clarity into what is a standard classroom and what

         13  is not.

         14                 So, again, I want to thank you, Madam

         15  Chair, and I look forward to having discussion with

         16  the Department of Education and hearing what they

         17  have in plan, and how we can implement this policy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Martinez.

         20                 We have not one but two Deputy

         21  Chancellors with us this morning. We're pleased

         22  about that. Thank you very much for joining us.

         23                 I don't know if both of you are

         24  testifying --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: On different
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          2  parts.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So,

          4  please just state your name for the record, and

          5  also, if you would just for the transcript,

          6  introduce your colleagues.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

          8  Carmen Farina, Deputy Chancellor for Teaching and

          9  Learning.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Kathleen

         11  Grimm, Deputy Chancellor for Finance and

         12  Administration.

         13                 With me, Jeff Shear, my Chief of

         14  Staff, and Steve Lawitts, Senior Vice President at

         15  the SCA.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Please begin.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

         18                 Well, good morning, and thank you for

         19  this opportunity to not only answer your questions,

         20  but perhaps bring up a whole other discussion as we

         21  move forward.

         22                 I want to testify about the proposed

         23  bills 619 and 550, as well as to share my fears

         24  about important factor in student achievement.

         25                 We support the goal of the two
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          2  Council bills and we look forward to working with

          3  the Committee to work out practical details that

          4  will make implementation feasible.

          5                 It's important for us to know what

          6  are the sites out there, what do they look like, and

          7  what is the duration of time and how do we need to

          8  make these better?

          9                 The Department of Education is

         10  committed to ensuring transparency about class size

         11  and space utilization. And I have with me people who

         12  have already introduced themselves who are here to

         13  answer specific questions about operational

         14  concerns.

         15                 I am here to bring to the table the

         16  bigger issue of policy that's underlying the two

         17  bills, but the other issue that you brought up,

         18  Council Moskowitz (sic), in terms of class size.

         19                 I've been involved with the New York

         20  City Public Schools for 40 years, as a teacher,

         21  principal, district superintendent, regional

         22  superintendent and deputy chancellor and parent. In

         23  these four decades I've learned that there are no

         24  magic bullets, no shortcuts to student success. When

         25  we talk about class size, it is only one factor that
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          2  enables students to succeed in school, and it needs

          3  to be part of a comprehensive strategy that takes

          4  into account all aspects that influence student

          5  achievement.

          6                 I want to say right up front that I

          7  believe in class size reduction, if done

          8  intelligently and with local autonomy. I will say

          9  that again. As a teacher I have learned that if you

         10  repeat yourself, the message stays.

         11                 I believe in class size reduction

         12  done intelligently, with local autonomy.

         13                 Principals and parents know what's

         14  best for their schools. They know their needs,

         15  teacher staffing and space constraints. Space

         16  constraints is one of the issues that we're here

         17  today to discuss.

         18                 It is not by accident that some of

         19  our best schools have larger class sizes, although

         20  smaller than in the past. When I was a teacher, I

         21  had 40 students in the class -- do not recommend

         22  that, but every time that I tried to have one less,

         23  the principal would say could you just take one more

         24  Carmen? And I did.

         25                 The larger class size also requires
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          2  maintaining specialty classrooms and teachers, as

          3  well as highly-trained intervention teachers.

          4                 I believe the leadership teams make

          5  better decisions than legally imposed mandates. And

          6  we cannot ignore the larger constraints involved in

          7  this issue. Class size has to be part of a

          8  comprehensive strategy, therefore has a central and

          9  local component.

         10                 And it's also an important part of

         11  the bills that are here today, because I do think we

         12  need to make these decisions based on facts, not on

         13  intuition.

         14                 We do not have the space in many of

         15  our schools to reduce class size and we often

         16  struggle to find quality teachers in the numbers

         17  needed in some of our struggling schools in special

         18  education and bilingual classes and specialized

         19  programs as Gifted and Talented, which we are

         20  increasing in the City, and are actually putting in

         21  extra money and professional development to ensure

         22  the teachers in those classes will be able to handle

         23  the challenge of teaching in those classrooms.

         24                 Therefore, we target class reduction

         25  for those schools with the greatest need. We look at
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          2  student performance and consider the availability of

          3  space.

          4                 Some of the reason for modules is

          5  also because in many of our special ed situations,

          6  we require two and three extra rooms for OT and PT

          7  and Special Needs students that require, for

          8  example, in autism classes, that for eight children,

          9  you need actually three separate classrooms.

         10                 Our capital plan and campaign for

         11  fiscal equity contain the blueprints for our

         12  expansion of class size reduction, but we have

         13  already moved aggressively to expand class size in

         14  the early grades in many targeted schools, even

         15  without CFE funding.

         16                 Class size has declined in every

         17  elementary school and middle grades since 2001 and

         18  2002, but once again, you are absolutely correct in

         19  asking us to put it in writing.

         20                 DOE has stepped up its support of

         21  early class size reduction by increasing its

         22  contribution from 21 million in 2001/2002 school

         23  year to 57 million in 2004/2005.

         24                 Because of the complexity of the

         25  variables that affect student achievement in
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          2  schools, class size is one of those aspects that a

          3  principal and a school leadership team are in a

          4  unique position to handle.

          5                 For a school to become successful and

          6  stay successful, each principal must have the

          7  flexibility to use a school budget in the way that

          8  is most effective for students in that building.

          9                 The issue can be class size, or

         10  adding an extra art class or expanding science

         11  programs or enhancing a school library with

         12  technology. School communities, under the leadership

         13  of a strong principal need to make decisions that

         14  deliver the most instructional bang for the buck.

         15                 When I was a principal, class rosters

         16  were not the same for every classroom teacher. If I

         17  had a brand new teacher, I always tried to give them

         18  two or three students less than a teacher who was

         19  more senior and experienced.

         20                 I matched students and teachers in a

         21  way that took into consideration their strengths and

         22  weaknesses.

         23                 I knew that every child enrolled in

         24  my non-Title 1 school brought dollars with them, by

         25  increasing class size with the approval of my
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          2  executive board and teachers, I ensured that by just

          3  having 17 or 18 extra children in the class, in a

          4  school in the lower grades, I can increase my budget

          5  enough to add an out-of-classroom position to

          6  bolster my enrichment offerings, or for specialized

          7  intervention services. Learning got deeper and

          8  richer.

          9                 I had a full-time speech teacher on

         10  my staff who worked with General Ed students. That

         11  is not a rule. Generally they only serve IEP-driven

         12  students.

         13                 I had three arts teachers who

         14  provided visual arts, dance and music, something

         15  seldom seen in elementary schools.

         16                 My four part-time intervention

         17  specialists, instead of one full-time teacher, were

         18  chosen because of their expertise with students of

         19  different ages.

         20                 Let me be clear, I was a classroom

         21  teacher for more than 20 years. I know that every

         22  classroom teacher wants the smallest possible class,

         23  but I also know that teachers want vibrant school

         24  libraries where the students can go and research and

         25  look at books and fall in love with them every day
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          2  of their lives.

          3                 I know art teachers add a special

          4  excitement to the Social Studies teaching and

          5  literacy. I know guidance counselors assist teachers

          6  in ways that teachers alone cannot do it when

          7  students have home issues.

          8                 And other staff are there also to

          9  support the work.

         10                 Teachers also need a quiet,

         11  reflective space in their school where they can go.

         12  We used to call it "teachers' lounge" but I was

         13  afraid to put that word in the testimony, because it

         14  gives this impression of sofas and rugs and luxury,

         15  and in reality, sometimes it's just a small room

         16  where they can go and close their eyes and think

         17  about what it would be like to be somewhere in the

         18  summer on an Island.

         19                 And this is the important part of the

         20  school also, because they need to rejuvenate

         21  themselves. Grade schools have great teachers, but

         22  how that staff is utilized is different in every

         23  school, based on student needs.

         24                 When we discuss class size, remember

         25  that teacher quality trumps everything. This is
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          2  something that we all know intuitively and

          3  demonstrate as parents.

          4                 Imagine if you were a principal and

          5  you gave a parent one of three choices. Large class

          6  size, and by and large I'm talking 28 students, with

          7  a wonderful teacher, mediocre teacher but confident

          8  with 23, or a brand new teacher who is just learning

          9  her class with 17. I guarantee you, most parents

         10  would opt for number one.

         11                 Research has unequivocally verified

         12  what parents know. The effects of highly qualified

         13  teachers far outstrip those of any other

         14  interventions.

         15                 Professional development is also a

         16  key part of what makes for high quality teachers and

         17  part of our budget also ensures that all teachers,

         18  regardless of their stage of development would have

         19  that.

         20                 Look at a school for a moment from a

         21  perspective of a leadership team and a principal.

         22  They want school with a phys ed component and a gym.

         23  They want arts programs, they want science. They

         24  want pre-k classes. Many of the schools in the City

         25  do not have pre-ks, or were eliminating upper grades
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          2  in order to ensure they could have pre-ks,

          3  well-stocked libraries, and how does the school

          4  leadership team reconcile these competing needs with

          5  single mind focus on small class size?

          6                 Each specialty room would have to

          7  become a classroom. Sibling variances, which I

          8  believe are very important to creating school

          9  communities would be sharply curtailed, because

         10  there simply wouldn't be rooms in many buildings.

         11                 This year principals received $40

         12  million in discretionary funds for interventions and

         13  early classes. Many principals have used this money

         14  to reduce class size. Others have chosen to lessen

         15  the teacher-pupil ratio, or increase it.

         16                 I can probably point to our test

         17  scores this year to say these multiple strategies

         18  have worked.

         19                 We see many other things that bring

         20  us to student achievement. I ask my staff to

         21  identify the elementary schools with the lowest and

         22  those with the highest class size.

         23                 The 50 schools with the lowest class

         24  size have an average class size of almost 14. Over

         25  ten students fewer than the 50 schools with the
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          2  largest class size, which average class size of 24.

          3  And you asked for hard facts, I have the name of

          4  these schools.

          5                 Yet, the percentage of the students

          6  exceeding in these schools is in converse order.

          7  Students with the larger class size have actually

          8  better scores than the students with the lowest

          9  class size.

         10                 Now, this is not acceptable either

         11  way, but the reality is the numbers alone do not

         12  tell the story.

         13                 I am worried that any mandate which

         14  unilaterally imposes the specific class size can

         15  result in spillover affects that hurt many of our

         16  schools.

         17                 For many schools that lack space,

         18  including some of our most desirable schools, it

         19  would mean that many zoned schools, zoned students

         20  would be displaced, many would have to eliminate

         21  sibling policies. Where would we put our pre-k

         22  classes which are not mandated by the State or

         23  gifted and talented programs? Where would we place

         24  our science labs and libraries? Do we start capping

         25  in fourth grade instead of fifth grade in many of
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          2  our elementary schools, and in middle schools do we

          3  want to go to double sessions, the way we have to in

          4  many of our high schools?

          5                 How we use teachers in a content and

          6  quality of instruction matters.

          7                 We know that what happened in

          8  California, the statewide resulted in exit of

          9  qualified teachers from the poorest districts to

         10  where they were most needed, to other districts in

         11  the state.

         12                 I am concerned this will happen in

         13  California -- that that will happen in New York.

         14                 I am saying that mandated blanket

         15  class size reduction without reference to school

         16  needs, constraints and thoughtful planning will

         17  result in less equity and opportunity for a quality

         18  education for all students in our schools.

         19                 What we need in New York is what we

         20  have provided - an approach that sees class size

         21  reduction as an important tool in a comprehensive

         22  portfolio of strategies.

         23                 Centrally we target those schools

         24  that need the most help and have the capacity to

         25  reduce class size.
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          2                 Locally, principals can use their

          3  budgets to reduce class size, hire intervention

          4  specialists, offer professional development, support

          5  programs before or after school to creative

          6  scheduling, or purchase materials that help with

          7  intervention strategies.

          8                 I never think of class size or any

          9  educational strategy in a vacuum. It is part of a

         10  discussion unique to each school. It is about school

         11  autonomy, not mandatory regulations. This is an

         12  intellectual exercise, not a robotic one.

         13                 This week I took a look at PS 6 where

         14  I was principal. If we get to the point where class

         15  size is mandated, my former school would have to

         16  eliminate its gym, arts studio, science lab, and

         17  computer room, possibly even subdivide the

         18  auditorium. Students would sit in smaller classes,

         19  but over 100 students would no longer be in that

         20  building.

         21                 Many students would have to leave

         22  because there is no way we could support the

         23  students that are there now.

         24                 I agree that having a paper fact

         25  about how many students in a building, and how to
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          2  use that space, is crucial to the success of the

          3  City.

          4                 But our Children First reforms, after

          5  three brief years, are clearly demonstrating that we

          6  are on the right track in terms of improving student

          7  achievement, and that is ultimately our goal. Class

          8  size is a tool, one tool. If we are to make all

          9  schools great schools, we need a rich menu of

         10  options for improving student achievement.

         11                 We look forward to working with you

         12  on bills 619 and 550 and any other issues you wish

         13  to consider.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony.

         17                 I think, if I'm hearing you correct,

         18  that you support these bills?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes, we do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I think

         21  that's a first. I don't think the Department of

         22  Education has ever come forward. I know we haven't

         23  had that many bills, but I'm glad. So, Council

         24  Member Martinez, you're in a unique situation by

         25  having the Department of Education support one of
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          2  your bills.

          3                 That is welcome news and we are very

          4  open to having a sit-down with you. I know there

          5  were a number of advocates who contacted us who also

          6  recommended some changes, but in the interest of the

          7  time we went forward with this bill, but we would

          8  welcome an opportunity to sit down with you in the

          9  very near future to work out some of the details.

         10                 Let me just try and understand some

         11  facts about information.

         12                 Does the Department know the average

         13  class size in each grade, in each school in the

         14  City? And if so, when do you know that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You referred

         16  to our register, our official register count. We

         17  take that as of October 31st. And we then audit that

         18  number to make sure it's right. It's one of the

         19  things we'll want to follow up with staff on in

         20  terms of timing and in terms of compliance with the

         21  gill.

         22                 So, we generally have numbers

         23  available late January, early February on class --

         24  on the sizes of every class in the system.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I just want
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          2  to say the caveat to that, there are two categories

          3  of students that it takes much longer for them to

          4  come to fruition, and that's special education and

          5  English language learners, for obvious reasons.

          6  Special education is the whole process that goes

          7  through referral, and we do not expect those classes

          8  to be fully filled until generally the end of

          9  December, the beginning of January, and we look at

         10  that for budgetary reasons.

         11                 For English Language Learners,

         12  because many of them are immigrants coming into our

         13  City, we find that the biggest influx is actually

         14  December and January.

         15                 So, those classes have to be

         16  vacillating, because what we found this past year in

         17  particular, is that when we made decisions in

         18  October, we had to go back and actually redo it in

         19  January, you would take a service away because kids

         20  aren't there, and then you would get 30 students who

         21  were coming in from Mexico all at the same time, the

         22  money had to go back into the schools. With the

         23  exception of those two major categories and the

         24  schools that we know with high mobility, we can

         25  pretty much figure it out.

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: With one

          3  other exception.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And the

          6  reason you referred to, for example, 11th grade, in

          7  senior high school grades we capture the data by

          8  course, and there may be a varying number of

          9  classes.

         10                 So, that, too, we can talk to you

         11  about and see if there is something we can work out.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And there's

         13  something else in high schools called LTAs that the

         14  numbers that appear on registers are --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What does LTAs

         16  stand for?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Long-term

         18  absences. What happens is that students who are

         19  supposed to show up and may appear to make a school

         20  over crowded, in actuality not coming and sitting in

         21  classrooms, so it takes time because they have to be

         22  counseled by a guidance counselor, there has to be a

         23  whole process put in place before we can take them

         24  off our register. So, that also adds to the

         25  situation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And why

          3  October 31st? Why not September 30th?

          4                 Why do it so late?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

          6  think there is any magic to the number than it

          7  assured people on the ground in the schools enough

          8  time for the classes to settle down.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wouldn't you

         10  want them settling down, though, awfully quickly?

         11  Wouldn't you want to encourage them to settle down

         12  and get to the instruction?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, I

         14  think that one of the problems is that parents make

         15  choices here. So, for example, parents go on

         16  vacation, they leave the country, they change

         17  schools, they do a whole bunch of things. And if we

         18  close classes too long, certainly I would say by the

         19  end of September we would love to finalize most of

         20  that. If you had to make a change in a teacher, you

         21  could do it sooner.

         22                 The reality is that in many parts of

         23  our City, students take vacations longer than we

         24  would like to, and for that stability to be there we

         25  need to give the most flexible time possible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But let me

          3  just ask a question, how many thousands of students

          4  are not showing up by September 39th? I mean is this

          5  a real problem?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: There is a

          7  class register procedure that gets taken the third

          8  day of school, fifth day of school, 11th day of

          9  school and goes on every so many days so that we are

         10  actually cleaning the registers as we go along.

         11                 But in terms of budgetary issues, it

         12  was generally waited til October 31st.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But you could

         14  move that up if you thought it was a good idea?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So,

         17  October 31st, currently you now have this register.

         18  It sounds like it's somewhat inaccurate for special

         19  ed and for ELL and sometimes for high school

         20  students?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And for these

         23  LTAs.

         24                 And when you say you audit, you audit

         25  because -- usually that term is used because someone
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          2  is doing something wrong, you audit just to verify

          3  accuracy?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: To verify.

          5  To verify accuracy. And in the interest of accuracy,

          6  if I can just go back, I would want to check with

          7  Counsel on that October 31st date. It is possible

          8  there may be some State Legislation mandating that

          9  date.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And the

         11  mandate would be that you must report on October

         12  31st, not earlier?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There may be

         14  a statutory provision that you must take your

         15  register as of October 31st.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And the

         18  purpose of the audit is to verify the figures.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         20                 I wouldn't mind knowing whether

         21  anything in the statute prevents you from doing

         22  earlier. You could do it twice. You could do it

         23  September 30th and then -- because from the point of

         24  view of the consumer, you want to know as early as

         25  possible.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And when

          4  you audit, are you finding gross inaccuracies, or

          5  you're finding slight movement?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Modest.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let's say 100

          8  kids, 10,000 kids, 100,000 kids, give me a

          9  discrepancy approximation.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Let me just

         11  speak from a historical point of view.

         12                 Many years ago the discrepancy was

         13  probably much larger. People start looking at it

         14  much more carefully. Because the idea here is

         15  principals must discharge students. In the computer

         16  age it is not possible to double register children

         17  to school. The ID number says that once your child

         18  is registered, you know what school he's in.

         19                 But there was a time historically

         20  where you could literally have the same child

         21  register in two or three schools, because every

         22  child carriers money with them, and that's how they

         23  assured a certain amount of money coming into their

         24  school.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, now
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          2  no one has any sense, when you pour over the --

          3  someone must look at the audits, are you off by

          4  100,000 kids or are you off by 500 kids? Just give

          5  me a ball park.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

          7  think we have the details but we'll happily get back

          8  to you with it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Who supervises

         10  the audit?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The office

         12  of the Auditor General.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And is that a

         14  DOE function or outside?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it's

         16  within the Department.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And so this

         18  happened on October 31st, then this office audits,

         19  and then what happens?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Then the

         21  numbers are available.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But if there's

         23  a discrepancy, doesn't anyone do anything about the

         24  discrepancy, or it's just a discrepancy for the

         25  record?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No. What

          3  happens is whatever the audited numbers are, the

          4  school budgets, we then do our mid-year adjustment

          5  based on those audited numbers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, the class

          7  size information is really not for instructional

          8  purposes per se, it's simply a budgetary function?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, it's a

         10  budgetary function that assures that money is being

         11  allocated to the schools in terms of where the

         12  children are.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. But

         14  you're not so much producing this data so that you

         15  can assess class size. You're doing it in order to

         16  distribute the money fairly; is that an accurate

         17  statement?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. But

         19  it's also of use, I believe, to monitor --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, if

         21  you see someone pours over this data, you distribute

         22  the money based on the audit figure, not the October

         23  31st.

         24                 And what's the date? How long does

         25  the audit take?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The figures

          3  are usually available at the end of January,

          4  beginning of February.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, some

          6  time in February you distribute the money? I'm a

          7  little confused.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Adjust. No,

          9  no --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You adjust the

         11  money.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You adjust

         13  the money.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. So,

         15  you give a school a little bit more or a little

         16  less, depending on what the numbers look like?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And who looks

         19  at the numbers to say this fourth grade class in

         20  Corona, Queens, has too many kids in it, and that's

         21  not a good thing? When is that judgment made?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, that

         23  judgment certainly wouldn't be made by the budget

         24  people or the auditor general.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That's why I'm
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          2  asking.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Those

          4  decisions are made at the school level by the

          5  principal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, so, DOE

          7  is not engaged in any oversight over the class size?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Oh, sure.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Or it goes

         10  to the regional. Keep in mind that zoned parents

         11  have a right to be in zone schools. So that if you

         12  have a zone school, even if there are too many

         13  children in there, that decision would have to be,

         14  do parents choose to go somewhere else? But that is

         15  their right to be in that zoned school.

         16                 Regional superintendents do look at

         17  class rosters on a regular basis. I always did, and

         18  I know others do as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Does DOE ever

         20  -- after you get this report, you know the numbers

         21  are accurate, do you, Deputy Chancellor Farina, or

         22  you, Deputy Chancellor Grimm, take that book and

         23  sort of flip through it and say, oh my goodness,

         24  there's a fourth grade class in Corona, Queens,

         25  that's got 40 kids and that shouldn't be and nobody
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          2  did anything about it, and maybe we should look into

          3  it? Or that doesn't happen? That's a regional

          4  responsibility?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That

          6  happens at the regional level at this time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, just to be

          8  clear --

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Not to beat a

         11  dead horse. Central does not review the data for

         12  class sizes that are too big?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's not

         14  that we do not review them, it's that when they are

         15  brought to our attention, the regionals, in terms

         16  you didn't mean an extra support or space, it always

         17  comes to us. But this is more of a local oversight

         18  and right now --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I was asking

         20  about that February document. Does anyone take it?

         21  It's probably some big thick thing. I don't think

         22  I've ever seen the audited number.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         24  think anyone does that, because I think what Deputy

         25  Chancellor Farina is describing is what's going on
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          2  throughout the year.

          3                 I mean, I certainly don't think the

          4  instructional people wait for us to finish the audit

          5  to be talking about what the class sizes are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, I'm not

          7  asking that. I'm saying no one at central, it sounds

          8  like the answer is no, I want to confirm, no one at

          9  Central takes that February document and thumbs

         10  through it for the purpose of seeing if class size

         11  is a problem somewhere. That you're saying is the

         12  regional sup's responsibility?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

         14  correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And, Carmen, I

         16  know that you said you did it when you were, I

         17  forget, you were District 15 and Superintendent 8,

         18  right? Am I getting the numbers right?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: When you were

         21  superintendent, do you know from firsthand knowledge

         22  that superintendents are looking at the data for

         23  class size?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes, the

         25  local instructional superintendent looking at issues
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          2  where there -- well, first of all, if there's a very

          3  large overcrowding, we have statistics on how many

          4  of these classes might fall into this category. What

          5  extra support the school might need, one is the

          6  principal, one is the solution, and that's part of

          7  the conversation they would have with principals on

          8  a very local level because these don't have --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I know. On a

         10  local level, I find LISs often don't know a ton of

         11  problems that are going on at school, so I would

         12  find it a little hard to believe that every LIS is

         13  pouring over that February document.

         14                 Do you send that February document

         15  out?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The schools

         17  have their own individual documents that every Local

         18  Instructional Superintendent has a copy of -- for

         19  their schools.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, this final

         21  audit, how does it get to the LIS? It's e-mailed to

         22  the LIS?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They have

         24  their regular school numbers based on the ATS

         25  numbers in each individual school.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, long

          3  before February they have their numbers. And they

          4  keep it in what form?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's on

          6  ATS.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: ATS.

          8                 So, every principal presumably has a

          9  number and if they have a fourth grade class that

         10  has 38 students, they know, and does the LIS know

         11  that? How does the LIS get the ATS data? Do they log

         12  into a system?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They can

         14  log into the system, but also this is part of their

         15  regular conversations with principals. There are a

         16  lot of issues. Where are your teacher shortages,

         17  what is your class size, what kind of extra

         18  supports, there's any number of things they would be

         19  talking to them on a regular basis.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I'm a

         21  little skeptical.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We're

         23  actually looking forward to working with you on

         24  these reports, because I think the data will be very

         25  interesting. Because up until now we really have
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          2  just had anecdotal data, and we haven't drilled down

          3  ourselves enough and we will do that as we respond

          4  to you with this bill. Because, for example, you

          5  heard an increase in fourth grade complaint, 36, 38

          6  in a class. I don't know the exact figures but I

          7  know throughout all the fourth and fifth grades in

          8  the City, there is only one class with 38 children

          9  in it. There are only 13 with 36 in it.

         10                 Now, those 14 classes should not

         11  exist. We need to do better than that. But in terms

         12  of the tens of thousands of classes we have up there

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And when you

         15  say that number, as of when is that? February or

         16  October?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It is the

         18  audited number.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. But

         20  February is pretty late in the year. I get reports a

         21  lot from parents --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It is the

         23  snapshot of October 31st post audit. But it's as of

         24  October --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you're
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          2  saying, as of October 31st there were only 13 fourth

          3  grade classes.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fourth and

          5  fifth grade.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Fourth and

          7  fifth that had 38 students.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thirty-six

          9  students.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thirty-six. I

         11  thought you said something about 38?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is one

         13  fourth or fifth grade class that has 38 students in

         14  it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And 13

         17  fourth and fifth grade classes with 36.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And if

         19  you bring that number down to 35, did you happen to

         20  know?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, 23.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Again --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That doesn't

         25  jive with my anecdotal experience, which is going
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          2  around to schools where people are saying that,

          3  whether the number is 36 or 35, but it's over 32

          4  that people are complaining about. So, I do think it

          5  would be helpful to get to the bottom of this.

          6                 Let me ask you this: Has the

          7  Department had any discussions about posting this

          8  information? Just doing it? Why not just make it

          9  publicly available?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I

         11  think we want to work toward that goal, absolutely.

         12                 I think we're just beginning to

         13  analyze this data and clean it and become more -- we

         14  want to be confident that it's accurate. And it's a

         15  tremendous amount of data out there that we're

         16  trying to bring together.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But it has to

         18  be fairly accurate in the sense that you're paying

         19  based on the per child, right? So, why would you be

         20  so worried that it would be inaccurate October 31st?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We want to

         22  make sure that we're defining things in a consistent

         23  manner across the system.

         24                 For example, the numbers I am giving

         25  you, we are talking only about the general ed
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          2  population, not about the special ed population.

          3                 I mean, we're agreeing with you, we

          4  want to work toward that goal. We just want to make

          5  sure that what we put out on the web, or however we

          6  make this public, that it is as accurate as we can

          7  make it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, let me

          9  move -- oh, we've been joined by Council Member

         10  Robert Jackson from Manhattan.

         11                 Thank you for being here.

         12                 When you calculate class size, can

         13  you-- is it literally do you count heads, do you

         14  look at the register class by class? Do you divide

         15  the register by the number of teachers, by the

         16  number of classrooms? How do you account for

         17  students who are in special programs? I want to make

         18  sure we're working with the same definition because

         19  if you're saying there are only 36, there are only

         20  13 classes with 36 or more, I just want to make sure

         21  I understand how you're getting to that number?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm going to

         23  ask Jeff Shear to walk you through that.

         24                 MR. SHEAR: For grades K through 8

         25  what we do is we count heads in each classroom. We

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  exclude special education classes, we exclude

          3  collaborative team teaching classes that are classes

          4  that consist of both general ed and special ed

          5  students that have two teachers in them, and we

          6  exclude bridge classes that can have multiple grade

          7  students in them, like a third and fourth bridge

          8  grade class.

          9                 And then we divide, we take the

         10  number of students that we counted, divide by the

         11  number of classrooms, and we determine what the

         12  average class size is for that grade.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I see. So,

         14  that's how you're determining average class size.

         15                 But no one is really interested in

         16  average class size, but when you do -- as a parent

         17  that's of utterly no interest to me, right?

         18                 MR. SHEAR: We agree.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I see.

         20                 But when you determine -- do the

         21  principals report class size, or they only report

         22  number of students and grades and then they divide

         23  it?

         24                 Is there a class size reporting

         25  mechanism?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The system

          3  has a class code for every class within a building.

          4  So, a grade has a code, and next to the grade either

          5  a room number or something that would designate that

          6  classroom.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, room K202

          8  has a code.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And that

         11  kindergarten teacher has X number of students.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And does the

         14  art teacher also say how many students she has, and

         15  the gym teacher?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, because

         17  they don't have dedicated classes. They would see X

         18  number and that would vary from schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't

         20  understand. What would the dedicated, whether they

         21  have a dedicated or not, --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Because

         23  then you would be counting children twice. The

         24  classroom teacher has the students, the specialty

         25  teachers service the children but don't --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but from

          3  a parents point of view, not only do I want my

          4  kindergarten class to have, you know, a reasonable

          5  number of children, but I want to make sure in the

          6  gym class that they're aren't 75 kids. Because, you

          7  know, gym with one teacher, it's going to be Dodge

          8  Ball and it's going to be chaos if you've got one

          9  teacher and 75 kids. I want to know that real

         10  physical fitness is going on. So, do you have any

         11  mechanism of knowing in the specialty classes how

         12  many kids?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: As we are

         14  looking at this, we are beginning to capture

         15  pupil/teacher ratios. So, we may be able to develop

         16  data around those classes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The thing is,

         18  the pupil/teacher ratio is important because that

         19  tells you how many grown-ups to kids you have. But

         20  when I'm choosing to send my child to a school, I

         21  want to know both the seventh grade class, but I

         22  also want to know if the art class and the gym class

         23  have a reasonable number of kids, and you presumably

         24  have that data. It can't be that you don't know,

         25  could it? Or someone doesn't know. The principal
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          2  must know.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think we

          4  have to look at it.

          5                 As you pointed out, clearly this was

          6  a system that was structured around money

          7  allocations created for budget purposes. And as we

          8  go forward, we're trying to enhance this data to use

          9  for other things.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I just

         11  want to make clear that, parents are going to want

         12  to know about the gym class, the art class, the

         13  music class. You know, it's hard to teach a music

         14  class. You know, it may require -- different classes

         15  may require different class sizes to have an

         16  instructional benefit.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Eva, can I

         18  answer that a different way?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: School

         21  leadership teams help make those decisions at the

         22  school level, in terms of which are the cluster

         23  positions within a building. And also, the decision

         24  is made which grade certain cluster teachers will

         25  cover.
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          2                 So, for example, as a principal, I

          3  know that I want my art teacher, my visual arts

          4  teacher to cover grades three, four and five. And

          5  also, they are mandated to teach 25 classes in the

          6  course of the week, and those classes must be

          7  average class sizes, and that is part of their

          8  contract. So, they're not going to necessarily --

          9  you can't. First of all, their rooms are only so big

         10  and you can't combine classes.

         11                 The only one, and you actually

         12  correctly said that, you might have a little bit of

         13  a difference, is in the gym, because there might be

         14  intramural sports in the gym, but here again, still

         15  would be one teacher for X number of students, and

         16  it changes in middle school. In middle school there

         17  is actually a different formula that is used for

         18  that. But in elementary school, it would mean that

         19  there would be another person in the room, if there

         20  were going to be two classes in the gym at the same

         21  time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I

         23  appreciate very much, Carmen, your discussion of,

         24  you know, the different choices that need to be

         25  made. I guess I object a little bit to this notion
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          2  that school leadership team has some level of

          3  flexibility, as the Ed Budget for Dummies tried to

          4  suggest that I did, you know, the principal has

          5  control basically of $218 per kid, there's just not

          6  a lot of flexibility. So, it's not as if you could

          7  really decide that you're going to reduce class

          8  size, other than, it seems to me, if a school can

          9  privately raise money to have a teaching assistant

         10  of some sort. There just isn't, I mean are you

         11  saying that we can pick a school at random, and

         12  there would be sufficient flexibility in the

         13  budgeting, that if class size reduction was the most

         14  important thing that a school could accomplish that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR CARMEN: In a Title

         16  1 school, absolutely. And with AIS money,

         17  absolutely.

         18                 Many schools with the money we gave

         19  them for third grade and fifth grade make decisions

         20  as a school --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you're

         22  making a distinction that a Title 1 and schools that

         23  receive AIS money can, but non-Title 1 schools could

         24  not?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Non-Title 1
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          2  schools, if they chose to have more students than

          3  the cap, could actually have more positions and

          4  reduce their class size that way, if they had the

          5  space, space being the issue.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: More students

          7  than the cap. In other words, they could violate the

          8  Teachers' Union contract, is that what you're

          9  suggesting?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, no.

         11  It doesn't violate the contract. Between 25 and 28

         12  is not a mandate, after 28 it is. If you had five

         13  classes on a grade and all classes went to 27, you

         14  have enough --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you know of

         16  any non-Title 1 schools that have the space?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: To reduce

         18  class size?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I can't think

         20  of one.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Because

         22  they're popular schools.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Then

         24  it's a little fictitious. I mean you have to

         25  qualify. You're saying that if you're a Title 1
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          2  school, or you receive AIS money and you do have

          3  some level of flexibility, but if you're not a Title

          4  1 school, you couldn't make that decision, the

          5  school leadership team most likely couldn't make

          6  that decision, just 'cause there wouldn't be space;

          7  is that a fair statement?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No. They

          9  could make other decisions, whether they have

         10  another teacher in the room, whether they have extra

         11  intervention teachers, whether they choose not to

         12  accept any variances whatsoever, whether they do not

         13  accept siblings. Those are all choices that are

         14  possible to be made. If the decision really was, or

         15  not to have pre-k. Many of the non-Title 1 schools

         16  in order to reduce class size chose not to have

         17  pre-k in their schools.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Let me

         19  turn to Council Member Martinez, and then we'll get

         20  some other questions and come back.

         21                 Council Member Martinez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 I'm also happy that they like my

         25  bill.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We support

          3  your bill.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's long

          5  overdue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA:

          8  Transparency is good. Listen, we'd like the

          9  information ourselves.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: In terms of

         11  capacity, building capacity and class size, I think

         12  they go hand-in-hand, and you made an example of PS

         13  6 where in order to reduce class size, you will have

         14  to use other spaces to accommodate that. And as a

         15  matter of fact, that is happening in my district, I

         16  know that the school my daughter attends, PS IS 187,

         17  used to have two gyms, now it only has one because

         18  the gym on the third floor, or the fourth floor, I

         19  believe, was turned into classrooms. And one of the

         20  -- what system or what mechanism does the

         21  Department, or School Construction utilizes all the

         22  time you change the capacity of the building?

         23                 In other words, if I build a house,

         24  I've got to get a certificate of occupancy that says

         25  X amount of individuals, X amount of families,
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          2  multiple families; so is that a process that the

          3  Department goes through, and whenever you change the

          4  capacity of a building, you also change the

          5  certificate of occupancy?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, what

          7  the School Construction Authority is in the process

          8  of doing is trying to eliminate overcrowding across

          9  the City.

         10                 Certainly in your area we have

         11  unfortunate examples of very crowded schools, and

         12  the five-year capital plan would both eliminate

         13  overcrowding, and also with the number of seats that

         14  we're planning on building K through 3, we would

         15  reduce class size in K to 3 to 20, approximately 20

         16  per classroom, and that would be an expenditure of

         17  $1.8 billion.

         18                 If I could also, while we're on the

         19  capital plan, mention one thing because it is very

         20  relevant to your bill, the plan also envisions

         21  eliminating all of the transportables that are out

         22  there, and all of the temporary buildings that are

         23  over 20 years old.

         24                 That's not the best solution in the

         25  world, but in terms of sort of the limited resources
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          2  and the great needs, it's, I think, a terrific goal.

          3                 So, it will be interesting working

          4  with you in terms of monitoring that process.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But I also

          6  want to be clear in terms of the bill.

          7                 For example, when we look at, you

          8  know, and I guess all politics is local and I'm

          9  using examples in my district. When we look at IS

         10  52, I attended IS 52, I'm a student graduate of IS

         11  52. When I graduated we had the temporary structure

         12  building there, the mobile building, and it's still

         13  there. And when we look at the capacity of that

         14  school, we notice that the population in that

         15  building, the temporary building, it's part of the

         16  overall capacity in the entire building.

         17                 So, you know, we want to be clear

         18  that whenever we get a report, because it's done,

         19  you know, with no input or arbitrarily from the

         20  Department of Education, every time you give us

         21  numbers, we look at the numbers and the numbers

         22  change. And when we try to analyze it, for example,

         23  how does the school that was capped for a thousand

         24  is now 2,000 or 1,500, and that's where we have no

         25  clear information.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay. Well,

          3  we should pursue it then, because, you know, there

          4  are two sets of numbers. There is the capacity

          5  number, what the school was built to hold, and then

          6  there is the registry number, the number of children

          7  who were there. And what's happening, particularly

          8  in your district, is that the number of children,

          9  we've gone through a very large growth in the number

         10  of children.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct. I

         12  mean, but that's the issue. Going back to the

         13  original question, when we build a building we're

         14  regulated X amount by the certificate of occupancy.

         15  The Department of Education, however, changes that

         16  structure, increases the population in the building,

         17  and aren't you mandated or regulated? Are there

         18  safety issues with that?

         19                 I understand, for example, when we

         20  look at the example that was given earlier, in terms

         21  of taking some of the laboratory and some of the art

         22  rooms, I think the Chairwoman made reference to

         23  that, because when we look at capacity, and in art,

         24  we have an art teacher that has an art classroom,

         25  and being a teacher myself I know that we rotate, we
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          2  go to the classrooms, but when you take away my

          3  room, it now becomes a classroom, now it's a

          4  different story. And now we also increase the

          5  population in that building, because originally that

          6  was meant for kids or students to come in and out,

          7  not to be a permanent classroom.

          8                 So, either when we built a new

          9  structure within the existing structure, or when we

         10  take away a classroom that's meant for kids,

         11  students to come in and out for service, either art,

         12  science, or gym, and now they lose that, the

         13  population increase in that building, and that

         14  brings several issues, safety issues, capacity

         15  issue, and that's what we're trying to get clear at

         16  and get the information in our respective community,

         17  whether we need the additional school.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I will

         19  let Carmen address it, because once the School

         20  Construction Authority obtains the Certificate of

         21  Occupancy, it's related to Code Compliance more than

         22  it is to the number of children in the school.

         23                 And the instructional leader, the

         24  principal in the school, is making decisions and

         25  sometimes not with all the flexibility he or she
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          2  would want if we're in an overcrowded neighborhood,

          3  in terms of admitting children to the school.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA:

          5  Unfortunately, you're right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Let me put

          8  it this way: As I recall, as a principal, when the

          9  Score Card, which is the old way of keeping track of

         10  who was in a building and what the rooms were used

         11  for, we were never given credit for rooms that were

         12  being used for out of classroom positions. And now

         13  there's always a problem because the understanding

         14  was that as long as there was a classroom, it should

         15  be used for children, not for art, not for science,

         16  not for any of these other things.

         17                 So, as part of the bill, whether it's

         18  in there explicitly or not, that's what we need to

         19  look at. And we need to decide what does make sense

         20  in terms of a full education, and what should be

         21  working towards.

         22                 It doesn't mean it's going to happen

         23  overnight. But since we do know that in many parts

         24  of the City the population is either stabilizing or

         25  beginning to go in the opposite direction, this
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          2  should be part of how schools are built. And I know

          3  in terms of the new schools, we're looking very

          4  seriously at ensuring that there is an art room,

          5  there's a science, and the science labs.

          6                 But I don't think that's the formula

          7  that's been done in the past, and I think that is

          8  actually how occupancy was decided, because I

          9  remember people saying, well, you don't need that

         10  room. I disagree. We do need that room that way.

         11                 So, I think that's something that

         12  when we come to the table to work on the other

         13  issues, we should be working on that as well, as

         14  part of a formula.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         16                 It's really important that we do

         17  that. Especially when we have communities which such

         18  an overcrowding, I would call them regions, when we

         19  look at regions and we look at the composition of

         20  regions and made up of different districts, to take

         21  a close look at those districts that have the higher

         22  burden of the overcrowding and how we're measuring

         23  capacity is extremely important.

         24                 I look forward, my office looks

         25  forward to working with you in making sure we have a
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          2  system that we could hold accountable when we look

          3  at building capacity.

          4                 And, again, I want to thank you,

          5  Madam Chair for your support on this bill.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I just want to

          7  follow up on one point that Council Member Martinez

          8  raised.

          9                 The capacity surveys that you do, the

         10  "Blue Book" I think it's called, when you first

         11  came on board, Deputy Chancellor Grimm, we had a

         12  discussion about my belief that the way we were

         13  doing capacity figures was not accurate for a

         14  variety of reasons, one of which was because we

         15  weren't, we were counting everything as a classroom

         16  and not necessarily accounting for the fact that

         17  space had been taken for an art room.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Was that fixed

         20  or not?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         22                 What we do now is we report the old

         23  way, but we also report showing how many cluster

         24  rooms that school ought to have. How many cluster

         25  rooms that school was entitled to, so that we're
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          2  using that in our planning as the goal.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So,

          4  Steve, were you going to say something?

          5                 MR. LAWITTS: Thank you, Madam Chair.

          6                 And when we do publish the capacity

          7  of a school, for example, if we say that an

          8  elementary school's capacity is 700 students, that's

          9  already taken into account that that school, based

         10  on the square footage, the number of rooms it has,

         11  should dedicate a certain number of those rooms to

         12  the cluster activities like art and music, and so

         13  the number of rooms associated with those cluster

         14  activities that that school should have, has already

         15  been deducted from the capacity to come up with the

         16  published 700 in this example.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I'm not

         18  understanding what you're saying, so excuse my

         19  obtuseness. But I'm used to looking at the capacity

         20  figures by percentage over capacity. So, a school

         21  will be at 130 percent capacity.

         22                 Now, is that with an art room, a

         23  science room, a gym? Or is that -- I don't quite

         24  understand, are you showing the ideal or are you

         25  showing what the reality is?
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          2                 MR. LAWITTS: When we say that a

          3  school is at 130 percent capacity, part of what

          4  we're saying is that it is overcrowded because they

          5  are not using the cluster rooms, rooms that should

          6  have been used as cluster rooms, for their intended

          7  art or music or other shared purpose, they have, in

          8  order to relieve overcrowding, have used those as

          9  regular classrooms.

         10                 So, that --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, how do I

         12  -- I'm sorry to use my own situation. My son's

         13  school lost its science lab and computer room last

         14  year. Will there be a difference? What will happen?

         15  What's sort of the difference?

         16                 I'm sorry I'm not getting this, but I

         17  just think it's an important point and I want to

         18  make sure I understand it.

         19                 MR. LAWITTS: There are a couple of

         20  things that you should see. One is all other things

         21  being equal, if they did lose a science room then --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. It had

         23  to be turned into a regular classroom because there

         24  were too many kids.

         25                 MR. LAWITTS: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So they

          3  couldn't have a science room.

          4                 MR. LAWITTS: Right. Then you would

          5  see the utilization percentage increase. You would

          6  see the school become more crowded.

          7                 The other thing you would see,

          8  because we do publish how many cluster rooms the

          9  school is entitled to and how many cluster rooms

         10  they're actually using for their intended purpose,

         11  you would most likely see that the school is using

         12  glass cluster rooms, and they're entitled to use.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, on

         14  any given school, in the Blue Book now, you can see,

         15  how many cluster room, what's your ideal for an

         16  elementary school, let's say? How many cluster

         17  rooms?

         18                 MR. LAWITTS: Depending on the

         19  building size and the number of rooms, it varies

         20  from --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wait. I

         22  thought it was based on instructional goals. Now

         23  it's based on the building size?

         24                 MR. LAWITTS: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I thought you
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          2  were saying --

          3                 MR. LAWITTS: Yes, the Blue Book, and

          4  it says in the introductory pages of the Blue Book

          5  that there is a formula for each school that's based

          6  on the number of rooms in that school, and so a

          7  school is entitled to one to five cluster rooms,

          8  depending on how many rooms and how many square feet

          9  are in that school.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I guess I'm a

         11  little frustrated, because I thought what you said,

         12  and I thought I heard Carmen say this, is that you

         13  have some educational beliefs, like every school, no

         14  matter what the footprint, should have an art room,

         15  and every school, no matter what the footprint,

         16  should have a science lab, or a science room. And

         17  every school, I don't know what the five, I hope

         18  it's sort of music, science, gym, and it doesn't

         19  vary by the footprint, but Steve seems to be saying

         20  that you have a different goal, depending on the

         21  size of the building; am I misunderstanding

         22  something?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         24  think you are, and I think it's a very good point,

         25  and I think we need to go back and talk about it.
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          2                 Because I think what I'm hearing here

          3  is, the SCA and it's traditional sort of

          4  formula-driven approach, and I think we need to sit

          5  down with Carmen and some of her instructional

          6  people, and make sure that that formula approach

          7  really reflects what the instructional people want.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The formula

          9  for clusters is for every teacher, you have one day

         10  of a cluster, that has to do with contractual

         11  issues, but the other bigger issue is, who are the

         12  clusters in each given building, and that will vary,

         13  depending on what the school decides.

         14                 There are some clusters that

         15  absolutely should have a room. You still have in

         16  many schools a traveling art teacher. That doesn't

         17  make for the best art experience. But you can have a

         18  cluster, that's what we call "a pushing," if you had

         19  -- I mean, for example, I just went to a school

         20  where they have a Social Studies cluster, that

         21  teacher actually goes into the classroom and works

         22  with grades four and five.

         23                 But at the very least, there are some

         24  types of clusters that should have their room for

         25  maximum advantage, and I think that's what we have
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          2  to look at.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And just to

          4  make clear what I want to be able to tell, and I

          5  think parents want to be able to tell, they want to

          6  be able to tell when they send their kid to a given

          7  school, is there an art room?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I found out,

         10  because I'm Chair of the Education Committee, and

         11  the principal approached me that we were losing our

         12  science room. It makes me none too happy that we're

         13  losing our science room because of overcrowding. I

         14  want to be able to see that reflected in the data so

         15  that there's no mystery here. Everybody should know

         16  the terrible state of affairs, that we're losing a

         17  science room because it's just so overcrowded, and

         18  it sounds like I can't tell that from the Blue Book.

         19  I can tell some general information about cluster

         20  rooms based on some formula, which I can't say I

         21  understand, I think we need a mechanism to be able

         22  to understand what your ideal is, in terms of how

         23  many rooms are for specialty, for lack of a better

         24  word, and what is actually at the building.

         25                 Council Member Jackson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good

          3  afternoon. I just wanted to follow-up on that.

          4                 If you as a parent or parent leaders

          5  are looking at the Blue Book, and depending on when

          6  they're looking at it so the capacity of your

          7  child's school may have been 700, for example, and

          8  now the capacity has changed to 790 because they

          9  basically have taken these art room or music room or

         10  other rooms and changed them into classrooms, and

         11  thus the team that has determined the capacity of

         12  the school have now determined that the capacity of

         13  the school is four more classes because that's what

         14  they're being utilized for, and in essence, the

         15  capacity has raised so the percentage of

         16  overcrowding is not really reflected. And I think

         17  that that's where people are confused. Because if

         18  capacity for a school, for example, is 700 and now

         19  is 850, it doesn't reflect the overutilization of

         20  the bathrooms, of the cafeteria, of the hallways

         21  that exist, as far as all of the things that we

         22  expect to be in sync in a school, as far as to have

         23  the type of atmosphere that is desired. And I think

         24  that it's important if the capacity of the school is

         25  750 when it's built, and if in fact they have now
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          2  changed that capacity to 850 because they have

          3  basically changed the rooms, I think that that has

          4  to be reflected.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Can I just

          6  respond to that?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sure.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I want to be

          9  very clear about this.

         10                 We never increase the capacity that

         11  way in the Blue Book. What we're trying to do is to

         12  raise the bar for ourselves, and so when we made the

         13  change after discussions with Council Member

         14  Moskowitz, what we're doing is if we're using that

         15  science lab, we're raising the percentage of

         16  utilization because what we're saying is to do it

         17  right we should have the cluster rooms available as

         18  cluster rooms, and the only thing that I wanted to

         19  go back and work with Carmen on is whether the

         20  formula for different sized buildings that the SCA

         21  is currently using, truly aligns with Carmen and our

         22  instructional goals.

         23                 Certainly, as far as the Blue Book

         24  itself is concerned, the goal is to always reflect

         25  that that school should have those common spaces
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          2  available.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I would agree

          4  with the goal that you're attempting to achieve, but

          5  from a practical point of view, going back when DOE

          6  came out with this draft five-year capital plan and

          7  my staff were involved in looking at capacity and

          8  overutilization, it did not reflect reality in

          9  District 6, and we challenged DOE on that, and I

         10  think that when you said after you had discussions

         11  with Chair Moskowitz, the issue came out after that

         12  discussion, so are we talking about one book at a

         13  certain point in time which is what everybody is

         14  going to be utilizing?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. It's a

         16  change that we made in the Blue Book that I think

         17  holds us to a higher standard.

         18                 And I will say, as I have said many

         19  times, we appreciated the input that we had on the

         20  Capital Plan that was proposed and the changes we

         21  were able to make in the final plan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: One of the

         23  points that I just noted here, as far as the

         24  capacity of a building, and the utilization of the

         25  building, and the COE, Certificate of Occupancy,
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          2  concerning code compliance.

          3                 Is there a process, for example, that

          4  whatever the capacity is, as far as, and

          5  utilization, is there a sign-off by the mandated

          6  members of the school leadership team?

          7                 You have mandated people on the team,

          8  such as the principal is a mandated member of the

          9  team; is that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The school

         11  leadership ream?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         13                 A UFT representative. What other

         14  mandates? A parent representative.

         15                 Is there, for example, or should

         16  there be a mandated sign-off to actually reflect the

         17  capacity of a school building and what the

         18  utilization is of the school building, so that

         19  everyone, meaning from that school that is part of

         20  the leadership team, basically has signed off and

         21  agreed that that is what it is?

         22                 Because quite frankly, I don't know

         23  whether everyone agrees with the statistics that are

         24  reflected.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the
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          2  data are obtained from the principals.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand.

          4                 But you and I know that the data that

          5  is contained in the book, every principal doesn't

          6  necessarily agree with that, at least in my opinion,

          7  because, you know, clearly going back to when you

          8  came up with your draft plan, you hired a consultant

          9  to do that, and I testified at the DOE hearing on

         10  that, and I said that, you know, the reflection was

         11  the District 6 was going to be underutilized by the

         12  end of the capital plan, which is I think, the

         13  capital plan runs to 2009.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But I think

         16  it said 2009 or whatever, 2012, we would be

         17  under-utilized. And I challenged the Department on

         18  that, and said I would shred my coat and eat it over

         19  the course of the year, and I still hold firm to

         20  that.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You still

         22  have that brown coat?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I still have

         24  it.

         25                 But quite frankly, I think that
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          2  ideally I would like to see a sign-off situation

          3  where you're going to have this transparency so that

          4  people have some sense of, I guess, confirmation,

          5  that the capacity and utilization of school

          6  buildings have been confirmed by the mandated

          7  members of the school leadership team, because the

          8  school leadership team is a driving body of that

          9  school.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. As you

         11  know, what we are commended to do and have been

         12  doing is that we are doing, rather than waiting

         13  every five years to do the demographic study, we're

         14  doing them each year. And we are also going to the

         15  CECs on an annual basis, with an amendment so that

         16  we are monitoring changes both in building

         17  conditions and in the demographic data.

         18                 So, there certainly is opportunity

         19  for input there.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: CEC stands

         21  for what again?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Community

         23  Education Council.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Councils for

         25  each district and there's 32 of them, correct?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There's 34

          3  actually, because there's a Citywide one for special

          4  ed and for high schools.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Let me just

          6  add, this year, since the CECs had came under me, we

          7  actually gave the CECs the facilities plans before

          8  we gave them to anyone else, with the express

          9  purpose of having them review them with the

         10  principals, and send us recommendations and

         11  suggestions, which they did. And we got actually

         12  back from 50 percent of the CECs in the City

         13  decisions they made, suggestions, recommendations

         14  based on that.

         15                 Now, if that was to be done in a more

         16  formal way in September when the new CECs come on

         17  board, we could actually develop a template that we

         18  give them along with the facilities studies, where

         19  they could follow-up, and that's something as we

         20  work towards these bills we could work together to

         21  developing that template, so that information will

         22  come to us in both the way we need it and the way

         23  you might want to see it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: As Miguel

         25  said earlier, that all politics are local, and no
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          2  one cannot tell me that education is not politics,

          3  because in fact it is, and I know that for a fact.

          4  Because that's why we don't have the $14.8 billion

          5  in New York City.

          6                 But the 50 percent of the CECs

          7  responded, I'm curious if you have that list. I

          8  would like to see whether or not, for example, the

          9  two CECs that are in my district that I represent,

         10  which is CEC for District 6 and District 5 --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Very

         12  involved.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: -- Responded

         14  --

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They're

         16  very involved. On a first-name basis with all of

         17  them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I want to see

         19  if they responded, I want to see what their

         20  responses are.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You know, as

         23  someone that's not directly involved in that

         24  process, but as a member of the City Council that is

         25  involved in approving the Five-Year Capital Plan and
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          2  approving of the City Budget, you know, I want to be

          3  able to see that.

          4                 So, if, for example, if you can

          5  e-mail me that information as to information from

          6  District 5 and District 6, I would appreciate that.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Actually,

          8  we're preparing a report for the Panel --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: On the

         11  responses of all the CECs. We'll be happy to share

         12  that with you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Madam Chair,

         14  may I ask Council Member Jackson if I could have a

         15  copy of it also?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure. Sure.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think as

         18  we work together on these two bills, you'll just

         19  make a list of other things, and then we'll just

         20  work on and see how we can incorporate this all

         21  above and beyond, you know, what was the original

         22  request.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes. I think

         24  the most important thing, and I think that I was out

         25  of the room, but when I came back I asked Miguel
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          2  Martinez whether or not DOE was in favor of the both

          3  of these proposed bills, and he said they were and I

          4  said that's good. Because you know transparency is

          5  extremely important so that everyone can see it. One

          6  thing is seeing it, and another thing is

          7  understanding it, and so the language has to be

          8  clear so that, you know, if only the educrets

          9  (phonetic) and people that are involved understand

         10  it, and the average parent does not understand it,

         11  we still have a problem.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, we

         13  would agree.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It has to be

         15  transparent and understandable.

         16                 Let me just finally, if you don't

         17  mind, Madam Chair, because basically the bottom line

         18  of all of this is to, I guess, ensure that smaller

         19  class size, and I'm looking at the button, it's a

         20  new button, "smaller classes now occur." That's a

         21  new button that Smaller Class Matters Campaign has

         22  put out. How did that reflect the transparency and

         23  the whole movement to the Department of Education

         24  not spending enough money, as far as CFE or whatever

         25  to reduce class size. It just doesn't seem to sync.
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          2  It's a lot of money that you talked about allocating

          3  for class size reduction doesn't come in sync with

          4  what they're talking about.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I'm

          6  not sure you were here, Council Member, when my

          7  colleague and I discussed this. The Department,

          8  certainly there is money allocated in the CFE plan.

          9  The Department has been aggressive in trying to

         10  address this, even though those funds haven't been

         11  forthcoming. And in the State Early Class Size

         12  Reduction Program, for example, the City funds have

         13  increased from roughly 20 million in Fiscal Year

         14  '02, to 50 -- I think 7, 57 million in this current

         15  year. That's a tremendous increase in commitment.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I don't think

         17  it's tremendous. In my opinion the word tremendous,

         18  I don't think it's tremendous considering we're

         19  talking about a $15 billion budget. That's not

         20  tremendous. Do you hear what I'm saying? It's all

         21  relative.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Everything

         23  is relative, that's true.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Referring to

         25  the 20 million, you know, in 2002, the 57 million,
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          2  people say, well, that's a tremendous jump, it may

          3  be a tremendous, you know, little hop, but it's not

          4  a jump. That's a hop. You know when you Hopscotch, a

          5  hop, skip and a jump, well, that may be considered a

          6  skip, not even a hop.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It is

          8  movement forward. It is movement forward in an area

          9  where you have I think three important components

         10  that you cannot lose sight of, and that is, the

         11  principal's discretion to decide how to spend funds,

         12  the space that we need in order to address this

         13  issue is just a fact we have to deal with, and the

         14  quality of the teachers that we need in order to

         15  move this program forward.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That sounds

         17  familiar.

         18                 Quality teachers and small class

         19  size. Thank you.

         20                 Thank you, Madam Chair. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can I just go

         22  back to this issue of the cluster room? Does the

         23  Department of Education centrally, do they know at

         24  any given school whether there's an art room or not

         25  now?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: If we went

          3  into that school's ATS, yes, we would figure it out.

          4                 We know how many schools have

          5  dedicated art room. I've asked every Department

          6  head, Sharon Dunn for arts, Julia Rankin for

          7  science, to actually give us the figures on how many

          8  class rooms we have by school that are dedicated to

          9  this --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And I've been

         11  trying to get them for three years.

         12                 Do we now have them?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I'll get

         14  them to you, Eva.

         15                 In every department where we've asked

         16  them to do that, we have that information.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And have you

         18  asked, you know, how many bathrooms have been

         19  converted, or how many closets have been converted

         20  for OT or speech? Do we have a handle on the space

         21  that we didn't have when you started?

         22                 MR. LAWITTS: We do track those

         23  changes from year-to-year, but depending on how long

         24  ago a room that wasn't a classroom was converted to

         25  a classroom. We may not have that record now. We do
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          2  track the conversions as they take place, and we can

          3  go back a certain number of years, but I'm not sure

          4  how far back you can go.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm not so

          6  interested, usually I am interested in history, but

          7  in this context I'm less interested in the history

          8  of it than currently. I mean let's say currently

          9  last year, how many schools went without a science

         10  room? How many schools went without an art room? How

         11  many schools had no gym? How many schools had kids

         12  and teachers working in converted closets?

         13                 You know very well at PS 6, because

         14  currently you gave me the tour of all of your

         15  closets which you converted to various uses; but do

         16  we have a sense systemwide?

         17                 MR. LAWITTS: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, okay.

         19                 And is there any reason why that

         20  information is not available to parents?

         21                 I just, when I pick a school for my

         22  kid, I want to know if there is a gym or an art

         23  room?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, there

         25  isn't. And we are really making, I think, dramatic
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          2  efforts at getting more information out, but you

          3  know, there's a long list of things we have to do

          4  and this is one of them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And as long as

          6  Laverne is here, I would like to say that it would

          7  be great if that was included in the high school

          8  directories. That's the kind of information parents

          9  want to know, in addition to the scores of the

         10  school, and in addition to all of the other

         11  information, graduation rate, I'd like distinctions

         12  between Regents Diplomas and local diplomas and I'd

         13  like it disaggregated by race and ethnicity, et

         14  cetera.

         15                 But I'd also like to know what the

         16  facility, and that is part of what you're choosing.

         17  If you're a particularly athletic kids, you know,

         18  yes, you do have to make choices. I wish we didn't.

         19  But if you have an artistic kid, then it may be more

         20  important for you to have an art room to be able to

         21  make that choice than a gym. Most parents would like

         22  both. I certainly would, but if they can't have

         23  both, at least they should know what they're signing

         24  up for before they go. And I don't think it's

         25  adequate to just say, well, the tour. You know,
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          2  there's a lot of things, you're a little overwhelmed

          3  when you're on the tour and you feel a little guilty

          4  if you're thinking about the gym, when you should be

          5  thinking about this instruction.

          6                 So, you know, but all of this, since

          7  you know it, if we could give it to the world, I

          8  think that would be helpful.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Point taken.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, great.

         11                 Are there any other questions for the

         12  Department? I know we have some other witnesses. If

         13  not, then we will thank you. We'd like to sit down

         14  ASAP and talk about these bills.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We would be

         17  delighted to have a working group.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 I explained when we started, Council

         21  Member Jackson, we're not used to the Department

         22  supporting any of our bills. This was a first, and

         23  so we're a little taken aback by that. Very happy,

         24  but taken aback.

         25                 We are now going to hear from Leonie
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          2  Haimson, Amina Rachman, Kathy McCullagh and Nick

          3  Beddell.

          4                 We may need some more chairs. Yes.

          5                 We're going to take a five-minute

          6  break while people are getting settled.

          7                 (Recess taken.)

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are going

          9  to resume, and I would ask, as always, it would be

         10  very helpful, both in the interest of time, it would

         11  be very helpful, both in the interest of time, but

         12  also to ask that our panelists respond to what you

         13  heard, I mean if you have other things to say,

         14  please share that with us as well, but one of the

         15  things we're really trying to do is have a public

         16  conversation about the issues before us. So, I would

         17  just urge you, I think everybody was here for the

         18  entire testimony, to not just read from your

         19  testimony but to respond directly to anything that

         20  you heard that was incorrect or needs clarification

         21  or points we should be focused on.

         22                 We'll begin in the order in which I

         23  called you, and if you would please state your name

         24  for the record, that would be helpful, just before

         25  you speak.
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          2                 MS. HAIMSON: Okay, I think you called

          3  me first.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

          5                 MS. HAIMSON: Leonie Haimson, Class

          6  Size Matters.

          7                 I was told not to focus on policy but

          8  on reporting here, but because she brought up a

          9  number of policy issues in relations to class size,

         10  I think it's important to address them very briefly.

         11                 As she talked about how the lowest

         12  performing schools had the lowest class sizes and

         13  the highest performing schools had the largest

         14  classes and vice versa, and I'm surprised at someone

         15  of Carmen Farina's sophistication, that what she

         16  doesn't mention is those statistics are essentially

         17  meaningless unless you control for the socioeconomic

         18  background of the students, because we know that's a

         19  most important determinant of how a child will do on

         20  their test scores.

         21                 And as you know, many of our

         22  highest-performing schools, in for example, District

         23  26 and District 2, are also the ones where the

         24  wealthiest students come from.

         25                 In her school, which she talked about
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          2  at length, PS 6, it's not only the wealthier school

          3  probably in the City, but probably the least

          4  representative and wealthiest school in the world,

          5  and not only of course doesn't have large class

          6  sizes, and therefore the students do well almost

          7  automatically, but the parents raised private funds

          8  so that there is at least one assistant teacher in

          9  every classroom, in addition to the regular teacher.

         10  And I'm not talking about a student teacher, I'm

         11  talking about an assistant teacher, which is someone

         12  that has all the qualifications to become certified.

         13  And also, it is well known that at PS 6, if a child

         14  is falling behind, it is standards advice on the

         15  part of the Administration to parents that that

         16  parent hire a private tutor for their child

         17  immediately.

         18                 So, as you can see, that is not

         19  exactly a representative school, and does not

         20  exactly have students and parents of representative

         21  means throughout the City who can neither afford to

         22  hire an assistant teacher, nor can afford to hire

         23  private tutors.

         24                 So, I just wanted to address that

         25  right off the bat. I also think that her answer
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          2  about SLTs and principals making their own

          3  priorities and having their own flexibilities is

          4  also very disingenuous. As your budget document

          5  pointed out, I think they have 1.8 percent of the

          6  funds that they can use flexibly and they don't, in

          7  many cases, the room to do so to keep classes small.

          8                 I have never spoken to a principal in

          9  my life who was against systemwide class size

         10  reduction imposed upon them, because it means they

         11  will have the room and the facilities and the

         12  teachers to do it, and in any case, Carmen Farina

         13  herself was on one of the expert panels in CFE, the

         14  professional judgment panels, which recommended

         15  classes no larger than 14 in all elementary schools,

         16  and I believe it was something like 18 and 20 from

         17  middle schools and high schools, and she did not

         18  dissent from those opinions when she was serving on

         19  that panel.

         20                 And now I'm going to go to the

         21  importance of reporting on this issue.

         22                 I'd like to thank you for asking me

         23  to testify here today and for introducing this very

         24  important legislation, which will acquire more

         25  accurate and timely class size reporting on the
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          2  school and districts level.

          3                 As I found out several years ago, New

          4  York City is the only school district in the entire

          5  State that doesn't include this information on its

          6  school report cards or anywhere else. When choosing

          7  a school, parents can find out the minutest details

          8  of test scores, experience and certification level

          9  of the teachers, but not the most basic information

         10  about what size classes are, which as research

         11  proves is a critical determinant of academic

         12  success.

         13                 Moreover, the system-wide class size

         14  data the DOE does release, whether to the State Ed

         15  Department, in the Mayor's Management Report or

         16  elsewhere, is notoriously unreliable. The State

         17  Education Department was unable to provide any

         18  statistics on average class size in New York City or

         19  the state as a whole for 2002 to 2003, because the

         20  City's data was thrown out as unacceptable.

         21                 Reportedly, the data submitted to the

         22  State last year was also considered highly

         23  problematic, but the State used its own estimation

         24  methods to come up with what they believed to be

         25  reasonable approximations of reality.
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          2                 Even so, the figures in the SED

          3  reports in the MMR rarely match up. To add insult to

          4  injury, when the public finally receives this

          5  system-wide information, it is at least a year out

          6  of date.

          7                 In this era of computerization, the

          8  internet, and Comp stat, this lack of accuracy,

          9  transparency and timely information is simply

         10  unacceptable. The city completes its audited

         11  classroom register by October 31st; we as parents

         12  and advocates deserve the data soon thereafter.

         13                 Why it is called the "audited"

         14  register, I have no idea, since DOE obviously puts

         15  very little effort into ensuring its accuracy.

         16  Indeed, after investigations initiated by Class Size

         17  Matters, with the help of the independent Budget

         18  Office and then pursued over a course of many months

         19  by Council Member Jackson, thank you very much, and

         20  State Senator Schneiderman, DOE admitted this winter

         21  that they had reported inaccurate class size data

         22  for many years, by including in their calculations

         23  very small classes of 1-4 students, which were

         24  really not classes at all but imaginary holding

         25  categories of long-term absent students.
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          2                 And the report cards that you have

          3  here, all incorrect information. For example, the

          4  kindergarten for 2003 they said 20.4, it was really

          5  20.7, according to the IBO. And the 20.3 for last

          6  year went up to 20.9. So, no one who has this,

          7  please, take it with a grain of salt. They've

          8  already admitted that it's wrong.

          9                 The extended saga begins in the fall

         10  of 2003 when I started hearing from parents that

         11  class sizes had gone up in their children's school,

         12  sometimes dramatically. I had no idea why this

         13  should be, since the funding for class size

         14  reduction in particular in the education budget was

         15  stable and enrollment was declining. DOE officials

         16  continued to insist in memos to the Panel for

         17  Educational Policy, to the press, and in the MMR,

         18  that average class sizes were declining in all

         19  grades.

         20                 So, I asked the IBO to take a look at

         21  what was happening, and to calculate not only class

         22  size averages, but how many classrooms in K through

         23  3 were being provided. Because there are specific

         24  provisions in the regulations in the state class

         25  size reduction pertaining to this issue.
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          2                 A little background. In 1999, New

          3  York State began to fund the hiring of additional

          4  teachers for grades K through 3 to reduce class

          5  size. Since 2000, New York City has been granted $88

          6  million a year under this program and DOE claims to

          7  have created more than 1,500 additional classrooms

          8  per year with the use of these funds.

          9                 Yet, as the IBO informed me in July,

         10  when they finally received the "C" register

         11  information and completed their calculations, the

         12  City had formed only about one-third of the

         13  additional classes in K through 3 last year that

         14  they had claimed.

         15                 As the IBO letter says, the City

         16  reported a higher number of new classes formed than

         17  IBO found in its analysis.

         18                 Indeed, according to their data,

         19  during last year, New York City public schools had

         20  only 540 more classes in these grades than before

         21  the State program began, rather than the 1,586 that

         22  they claim to have formed, with more than a thousand

         23  missing classrooms in K through 3 last year alone.

         24                 The IBO also calculated that the

         25  total number of classes had declined by over 600 in
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          2  the last three years, which in my opinion and the

          3  opinion of other people I have talked to, violate

          4  the specific maintenance of effort provisions in the

          5  State class size reduction law.

          6                 After the IBO threw out all the

          7  classes that were smaller than five, or more than 50

          8  students, assuming that there were errors they found

          9  in the data, they found that the sharp cut in the

         10  total number of classes caused average class sizes

         11  to rise for grades K through 3 in 15 districts last

         12  year, while declining in only 14. The average size

         13  of kindergarten classes also rose Citywide last year

         14  for the first time in five years, contrary to

         15  official figures reported in the MMR and elsewhere.

         16                 I calculated that the City had

         17  actually created the 1,500 86 additional classes in

         18  these grades as they claimed in their reports to the

         19  state, the average class size in grades K through 3

         20  would be near 18 now, rather than almost 22.

         21                 According to the IBO's calculations

         22  because of the lack of progress, only 38 percent of

         23  kindergarten students were in classes of 20 or less,

         24  only 33 percent of first and second graders, and

         25  only 28 percent of third graders, despite declining
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          2  enrollment and stable state funding.

          3                 After I went to Council Member

          4  Jackson and State Senator Schneiderman with this

          5  information, and they pursued the matter with

          6  Kathleen Grimm, she conceded in a letter that the

          7  Department had released inaccurate class size data,

          8  by including in the data the aforementioned phantom

          9  classes, made up entirely of long-term absent

         10  students. Yet, in the same letter she continued to

         11  claim that they had actually formed every one of the

         12  additional 1,586 classes they had reported to the

         13  State.

         14                 This unsatisfying response eventually

         15  led Speaker Miller, Senator Schneiderman and

         16  Councilman Jackson to ask the State Comptroller to

         17  perform an audit of the City's use of these funds,

         18  which he agreed to do.

         19                 When a DOE spokesperson subsequently

         20  claimed to the press that the request for an audit

         21  was political, and the Department had been

         22  completely cleared by an earlier audit of the City's

         23  use of these funds, the State Comptroller's Office

         24  then released an audit from 2003 showing that from

         25  1990 to 2002 New York City had only created 2,613
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          2  classes of the more than 4,000 it had claimed and

          3  received funding for under state law. Yet, for

          4  reasons unknown, no one except for DOE and SED seems

          5  to have known about this earlier audit, and no one

          6  followed up on it. Because of the lack of oversight

          7  and attention given this issue, DOE's 55 percent

          8  compliance as of 2002 slipped to less than 33

          9  percent last year.

         10                 Indeed, the evidence suggests

         11  strongly that since 1999, hundreds of millions of

         12  State dollars supposed to go towards reducing class

         13  size, have been misappropriated by DOE, and that

         14  millions of New York City children have been

         15  deprived of their chance to benefit from smaller

         16  classes as a result.

         17                 Now, if the City was required to

         18  release class size data by school and system-wide

         19  more promptly, parents at various schools could help

         20  assure the accuracy of the information and check on

         21  whether the data was indeed on target, at least in

         22  regard to their own schools.

         23                 I don't imagine DOE could get away

         24  with including phantom classes in their

         25  calculations, and we might also discover whether all
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          2  the other classes that the IBO included in their

          3  calculations of five to 15 students per class, were

          4  really special education classes miscoded or also

          5  imaginary classes of long-term absence students.

          6                 And I think if you listened closely

          7  to Kathleen Grimm today, you might get a hint that

          8  she, herself, is not sure how many classes that

          9  they're including in their calculations are actually

         10  special ed classes, because she said we want to make

         11  very sure that the data is correct before we release

         12  it, and we have to make sure that none of that

         13  information contains special ed classes.

         14                 So, I strongly suspect that even the

         15  IBO's data looks much too good and that the class

         16  size averages are larger than what they report.

         17                 We might also find out, for example,

         18  what is happening with class size in our high

         19  schools.

         20                 The IBO has never received high

         21  school data in any form that would allow them to

         22  check the class size averages reported by the City,

         23  which claims that in class sizes in high schools now

         24  average between 27 and 28 students. This is

         25  difficult to believe and either reflects widely on
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          2  even class sizes across the system, or inaccurate

          3  data. Since we know that in most of our large class

          4  high schools, classes are usually 34 and above.

          5                 When our high school drop-out rates

          6  are over 50 percent, it is critical that we have as

          7  much information to see if those schools with

          8  smaller classes do a better job engaging in

          9  graduating their students.

         10                 Now we're claiming that it's smaller

         11  schools that do the trick, and I'd like to know

         12  whether if we had large high schools with smaller

         13  classes, they would perform similarly.

         14                 I do have some suggestions on how

         15  this legislation could and should be improved.

         16                 Parents whose children who are in CTT

         17  inclusion or vocational programs also need and

         18  deserve to know the size of these classes, and for

         19  some reason these categories are exempted from the

         20  reporting requirements in the bill. I'm glad to see

         21  that you have included special ed, though, because

         22  in the earlier version I saw it did not include

         23  special ed.

         24                 Parents, advocates and the Council

         25  also need to receive accurate and real time data as
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          2  regard to overcrowding, including how many schools

          3  are overcapacity and by how much. When the IBO

          4  finally receives this data from DOE and issues their

          5  annual report, reporters rush to whatever poor

          6  school is listed as most overcrowded only to find

          7  out that the information is up to two years out of

          8  date.

          9                 We need more accurate and timely

         10  overcrowding data, if we are ever going to be able

         11  to understand why certain schools are suffering

         12  increased rates of crime and school safety.

         13                 A recent study of the impact school

         14  shows that on average these schools went from being

         15  less overcrowded than the City average to much more

         16  overcrowded, just as they began experiencing

         17  increased rates of school violence.

         18                 In the legislation there also needs

         19  to be specific reporting about how many additional

         20  teachers were hired with State, federal and City

         21  funds. At specific schools and system-wide, this

         22  might help prevent the sort of problems that trigger

         23  the need for an audit by the State Comptroller, and

         24  would better ensure that in the future funds

         25  appropriated to reduce class size are actually used
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          2  for this purpose.

          3                 The City Council has a vested

          4  interest in more closely monitoring the situation.

          5                 Last year the Council appropriated an

          6  additional 20 million supposed to be used to lower

          7  class size to create almost 200 more classes in

          8  grades K through 3, yet no one really knows whether

          9  these classes were ever actually formed. If the

         10  Council's proposal to fund additional class size

         11  reduction at the tune of almost 200 million next

         12  year, and 400 million the year after comes to pass,

         13  it will be especially important to ensure that this

         14  money results in actual large scale reductions in

         15  class size.

         16                 If and when our schools finally

         17  receive the funds they are due as a result of the

         18  CFE, and hopefully this will be on the order of 5.6

         19  billion per year, as Justice DeGrasse has ordered,

         20  it is of paramount importance that these funds are

         21  not wasted.

         22                 We need full transparency in this

         23  area to ensure that our children receive their

         24  constitutional rights to an adequate education,

         25  which according to the court's decision in the case,
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          2  requires more accountability and smaller classes in

          3  all grades.

          4                 In the legislation, we also need to

          5  ensure that the data files in which these

          6  school-based and system-wide averages are based is

          7  released concurrently to interested parties so that

          8  the IBO and other monitoring independent agencies

          9  can verify it. Class size and capacity information

         10  must be sent home with every parent and included in

         11  school report cards, as well as on the Internet, so

         12  that all parents, even those without computers, can

         13  have access to it. Parent advocates and other

         14  interested parties must also have the right not to

         15  just receive class size averages at their school,

         16  but to find out the class sizes of every classroom

         17  in any particular school, if they so request it.

         18                 Finally, I would like to humbly

         19  recommend that DOE be given three months after the

         20  passage of this bill, rather than six months, to

         21  report this information. It shouldn't take them that

         22  long to calculate it and New York City parents have

         23  been waiting too long already for what should have

         24  been provided us a long time ago.

         25                 I want to thank the sponsors of this
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          2  bill and Council Member Moskowitz, in particular,

          3  for taking the time to examine this issue and

          4  proposing that New York City parents finally receive

          5  the basic class size information that they need and

          6  deserve and that all other parents in New York State

          7  have received as a matter of right for many years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          9                 Although I'm dying to ask you some

         10  questions, I'm going to wait for our other panelists

         11  and then we'll take questions.

         12                 So, Amina Rachman, thank you for

         13  being here.

         14                 Please begin.

         15                 MS. RACHMAN: Thank you. I'm checking

         16  to watch to see if it's still morning. It is.

         17                 Good morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good morning.

         19                 MS. RACHMAN: I'm Amina Rachman,

         20  Special Assistant to the UFT President, Randi

         21  Weingarten.

         22                 Thank you for the opportunity, for

         23  giving me the opportunity to speak with you today

         24  about one of the most urgent problems in our school

         25  system, overcrowding and its affect on class size,
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          2  building use, and ultimately on teaching and

          3  learning.

          4                 First of all, what do we know about

          5  class size and building use? Unfortunately, we know

          6  far too little, considering how important it is to

          7  assure reasonable class sizes for all students, and

          8  to assure that class sizes are equitable across the

          9  system.

         10                 The Mayor and the Chancellor tell us

         11  that average class size is going down. It may be,

         12  but an "average" for a system of 1.1 million

         13  students is not very useful information.

         14                 Averages conceal as much as they

         15  reveal, especially when the numbers are so huge. The

         16  Mayor's Management Report shows the average class

         17  size in grade six, although I don't know if I should

         18  read a sentence like this following Leonie's

         19  testimony, but I will anyway. The Mayor's Management

         20  Report shows the average class size in grade six is

         21  now at 26.7 students, down from 28.0 students in the

         22  2003/2004 school year.

         23                 But that means nothing to the 32

         24  students packed into Ms. Chan's sixth grade science

         25  class, nor did the systemwide average help the
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          2  parents of those students when they were picking a

          3  middle school for their children.

          4                 As for high schools, neither the

          5  Mayor's Management Report, nor the Department of

          6  Education even report average class sizes for the

          7  high schools. The information is available from the

          8  State Education Department, but it's data led by

          9  about two years.

         10                 So, it is of no use for planning or

         11  for students and parents looking for school for next

         12  year.

         13                 In fact, the City DOE failed to even

         14  report this older data last year. Now there's a

         15  blank line across the page for New York City in

         16  those state documents.

         17                 This year the DOE also failed to

         18  report complete data for the 2003/2004 school year,

         19  which is to be published this spring, due to a

         20  glitche in its new on-line system. So the State

         21  Education Department had to accept partial data as

         22  the basis for its report.

         23                 In addition, the high school

         24  buildings are now frequently shared by a number of

         25  new small schools, and I know this Committee has
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          2  looked at this issue in recent months, actually.

          3                 This often increases class size in

          4  most classrooms in the building, even as the small

          5  school classes are kept at 25.

          6                 It also has an impact, just the

          7  creation of these small schools has an impact on all

          8  of these surrounding high schools in the

          9  neighborhood, as students get pushed into other

         10  buildings.

         11                 The recent change at Seward Park, for

         12  example, has had a tremendous impact on already, an

         13  already overcrowded school, Washington Irving, which

         14  is a nearby school that would pick up students

         15  pushed out of Seaward Park.

         16                 Similarly, it's very difficult even

         17  for school system insiders to know exactly what the

         18  capacity of a school building is, and whether

         19  enrollment is actually exceeding the capacity; in

         20  other words, just how crowded the school is.

         21                 We have found that the DOE's estimate

         22  of school building capacity often increased without

         23  any actual additions to the facility.

         24                 The capacity rating sometimes goes up

         25  because the school is on double session. So, the
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          2  increase merely reflects the fact that the same room

          3  is used for 12 periods a day instead of six.

          4                 There isn't any real new classroom

          5  space, or it may reflect the fact that the library

          6  is now two classrooms. Of course, they now have no

          7  library. So, the rated capacity of a building can,

          8  like average class size, conceal as much as it

          9  reveals.

         10                 Some of the most overcrowded schools

         11  and districts in the City now look on paper like

         12  they have no problem, or as if their problem isn't

         13  so bad.

         14                 For example, Richmond Hill High

         15  School in District 27 in Queens, runs at 140 percent

         16  of capacity, according to the latest DOE reporting.

         17  But it is actually at 260 percent of capacity using

         18  its prior capacity reporting methods.

         19                 There are scores of high schools on

         20  multiple sessions, or back-to-back sessions, a half

         21  of the school attends in the morning and half in the

         22  afternoon.

         23                 In many schools halls are so crowded

         24  that it's a real challenge for teachers and students

         25  to make it to the next class before the late bell.
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          2  Students often have lunch at 9:30 a.m.

          3                 At the January Forum on High School

          4  Overcrowding organized by the UFT and the CSA,

          5  participants heard in great numbers about damage

          6  done to students and schools from overcrowding, from

          7  students who felt they had been cheated in their

          8  education.

          9                 Small schools have attended to suck

         10  up space in the existing large high schools that

         11  house them, creating even worse and often patently

         12  unfair conditions in the whole school. And this is

         13  not a problem confined to a few schools in the

         14  system.

         15                 According to the Mayor's own

         16  Management Report, 31.9 percent of elementary and

         17  middle school students attended overcrowded schools,

         18  and 71.4 percent of high school students do.

         19                 What does this degree of overcrowding

         20  do to teaching and learning? You have probably heard

         21  that teachers come back to school before students do

         22  every summer in order to set up their rooms.

         23                 What they are doing is creating

         24  classroom space to support learning. They are

         25  carefully planning the flow of students throughout
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          2  the day, creating dedicated spaces in their rooms

          3  for certain activities, deciding how to display

          4  information, and creating an environment that will

          5  set the stage for learning.

          6                 None of this occurs if a teacher has

          7  to shoehorn 34 children into a former boiler room.

          8  None of this occurs if she has to move her classroom

          9  around in a cart, or is assigned to a basement room

         10  without windows, the kind of class that my son is

         11  in, for example, in middle school, District 15. Of

         12  if the teacher is teaching Spanish in the same

         13  former library that a French teacher is also

         14  instructing his 34 students on the other side of the

         15  half height movable partition wall.

         16                 It is disgraceful that such working

         17  conditions, and these are learning conditions, count

         18  as acceptable classroom space when the Department of

         19  Education reports to the public.

         20                 Where is the transparency here? Where

         21  is the truth in advertising? How are such conditions

         22  going to retain the high quality teachers we need?

         23                 How will this play out with parents

         24  who thought they were sending their children to a

         25  school with adequate facilities?
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          2                 And how does pulling a veil across

          3  the school system help the public decide what the

          4  schools really need.

          5                 In a recent speech, UFT President

          6  Randi Weingarten called for an independent

          7  evaluation board in order to create a more

          8  transparent system of accountability, such a board

          9  would allow educators, parents and the public to get

         10  a clearer picture of school conditions and assess

         11  the results of educational initiatives.

         12                 It would also allow outside experts

         13  to have more input into the system.

         14                 In the speech she said we have to get

         15  around data that is massaged and selectively

         16  released by the same people who have a stake in

         17  proving that their plans and ideas work. Without

         18  full disclosure, without a watchdog, without venues

         19  for parent and community input, without consultation

         20  with front line educators, Tweed has taken the

         21  public out of public education, and we, all of us,

         22  need to fight to put the public back in.

         23                 That's why the UFT wholeheartedly

         24  endorses both these bills, which will help us to get

         25  a clear and accurate picture of both the school

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  system and the individual schools within it and put

          3  the public back within public education.

          4                 So, thank you for this opportunity to

          5  testify, and thank you for introducing these two

          6  bills.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          8                 I think we're going to hear from Nick

          9  Beddell.

         10                 Is Kathy McCullagh here?

         11                 MR. BEDDELL: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No, okay.

         13                 MR. BEDDELL: My name is Nick Beddell.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We've been

         15  joined by Council Member Oliver Koppell from the

         16  Bronx. Thanks for being here.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I apologize

         18  for my lateness.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's a crazy

         20  day.

         21                 MS. RACHMAN: If I can take one

         22  moment, let me just say that I am joined here by

         23  Paul Eagan, another UFT representative, one of our

         24  education specialists from the Bronx UFT, who knows

         25  the borough very well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Welcome.

          3  Thanks for being here.

          4                 MR. BEDDELL: I'm a parent of a

          5  kindergarten student at PS 146, the Brooklyn New

          6  School in District 15.

          7                 Upon arrival into that school this

          8  year, there were three kindergarten classes, each

          9  one 26 kids, and the push-in teacher who floated.

         10                 At a kindergarten breakfast with the

         11  principal, many parents raised the question why

         12  there weren't four kindergarten classes at 20 kids a

         13  class or a little bit less than 20 kids, and we were

         14  given some answers that were very difficult to wrap

         15  our brains around, and organize a committee to

         16  reduce class size in the school.

         17                 We met over the course of the year

         18  with teachers. We met with the principal repeatedly.

         19  We met with other parents. And in March we organized

         20  a forum, an evening forum in the school about the

         21  issue of class size.

         22                 And one of the things that we wanted

         23  to do for that forum was to prepare documents that

         24  showed class size in all of the schools that were

         25  similar to the one that our kids ran. And our school
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          2  is a non-Title 1 school, it's a magnet school that

          3  has a lottery, so it's a tremendous amount of

          4  control of the roster appears to be in the hands of

          5  the principal, and since it's a non-zone school,

          6  kids don't arrive and have to have to be put into

          7  classes.

          8                 We saw this as an enormous

          9  opportunity to reduce class size, and we tried to

         10  put this document together, and we went and tried to

         11  find out who all the non-Title 1 schools were in

         12  District 15, and then called them all directly

         13  asking for them to give us the information about the

         14  class sizes that they had in K through 5.

         15                 We met with sort of interesting

         16  answers. We basically met with none from everyone.

         17  We were told that it was a violation of student

         18  privacy, by a coordinator. We were told --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I've heard a

         20  lot of lame responses, I think that one takes the

         21  cake.

         22                 MR. BEDDELL: We were told it wasn't

         23  available. And we received a lot of non-returned

         24  calls.

         25                 Eventually what we did was we went to
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          2  the actual schools as a group and we said, you're

          3  responsible for these schools you're responsible for

          4  these, you're responsible, and we went to drop off

          5  and pick up and we asked the parents how many kids

          6  are in your class, and we put together this

          7  document, which has about nine schools on it and

          8  distributed among all the parents in the Brooklyn

          9  new school.

         10                 What was most interesting about that

         11  was that it suddenly makes a parent able to look at

         12  how their similarly situated school relates to other

         13  similarly situated schools, and PS 107, 154, 130 --

         14  no, not 130. I can't remember what they all are in

         15  the document, all had lower class sizes for their

         16  lower grades and did not do this float teacher that

         17  pushes in, and very many parents presented with that

         18  document directly went to the principal and go

         19  what's going on here? Why don't we have 20 kids in

         20  our class? Again, the answers were related to

         21  instructional priorities, support for teachers was

         22  better than a smaller class size, and then the

         23  building space issue, which turned out not to be

         24  true.

         25                 We are very excited that our
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          2  committee, which turned out 75 to 90 parents that

          3  evening, that has an ongoing structure and continues

          4  to push our school to change class size against what

          5  I believe is some surprising resistance from

          6  Administration in a progressive school like ours.

          7                 That change has been made. There are

          8  going to be four kindergarten classes and four first

          9  grade classes next year of 20 kids a class, my

         10  daughter will be in a much smaller class next year,

         11  which I'm excited about, however, no one has an

         12  answer for what happens in third, fourth and fifth

         13  grade, when the 80 kids are suddenly smushed into

         14  three classes.

         15                 So, that's been our experience. My

         16  understanding of this bill, I haven't seen it, is

         17  that this information would be easier for me to

         18  find.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, that's

         20  the concept. Yes.

         21                 MR. BEDDELL: Which I would have

         22  certainly appreciated in September this year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We rarely have

         24  parents who are so on point to the bill, so I'm

         25  delighted you're here, and I want to say that I
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          2  appreciate your efforts, not only on behalf of the

          3  children at your school, but all parents, it's

          4  really a lesson that you have to push back. If you

          5  want something and it's important to you, and I'm

          6  not saying you've gotten it for all the grades. But

          7  obviously this is a victory, and it's important in

          8  these situations to savior the victories.

          9                 But I also think parents have more

         10  power sometimes and they realize when they speak out

         11  and they try by hook or crook get this information

         12  and obviously our goal here is to make sure that you

         13  don't have to physically go to each school and ask

         14  parents to have this information.

         15                 So, thank you very much for your

         16  testimony.

         17                 I guess I wanted to start by asking

         18  Leonie to explain a little more, and I apologize,

         19  I'm not sure I followed all --

         20                 MR. BEDDELL: Just so you know, Kathy

         21  McCullagh has just walked in.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, welcome.

         23  We have just finished the panel, so, please. Do you

         24  have testimony that you would like to give.

         25                 MS. McCULLAGH: I work with Nick in
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          2  the same school, so if he told the story I'll say

          3  it's true.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It was an

          5  amazing story, and we very much appreciate both of

          6  you coming forward. And as I said to him, I really

          7  want to salute your efforts, your doggedness and

          8  your commitment to getting this information, which

          9  you have every right to have. And it is our hope

         10  that these bills will prevent others who have the

         11  same interests you have, from running around and

         12  collecting it themselves.

         13                 I guess, Leonie, I wanted to

         14  understand, because it was a little hard for me to

         15  follow all of the ins and outs of this information,

         16  you say in your testimony that the New York City's

         17  data was thrown out as unacceptable, and I'm not

         18  sure I understand which data that was and who threw

         19  it out as unacceptable. Is that the IBO report?

         20                 MS. HAIMSON: No. The data that the

         21  City submitted to the State for the Chapter 655

         22  report, for two years, I mean I think Amina

         23  mentioned it as well, there is one year in

         24  particular where there is no data for New York City

         25  as a whole, no class size data, I think it's 2002 to
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          2  '03, and therefore, we will never have Statewide

          3  data either, because, of course, New York City is a

          4  big part of the State. So, it leaves those entire

          5  two categories blank for that year.

          6                 And the last year I was told, though

          7  I have not been able to reach SED myself, but am

          8  told through sources and the UFT actually who I

          9  guess they actually do talk to, because I have

         10  called them up many times and they never respond.

         11                 Once I had a conversation with Martha

         12  Musser, who is head of reporting for SED, when I

         13  first discovered that New York City was the only

         14  district in the State that didn't have this

         15  information on school report cards, and I went to

         16  her and I said, well, don't you require class size

         17  data on your school report cards, since it happens

         18  everywhere else in the State? She said, we let New

         19  York City do their own report cards. I said, but

         20  don't you have any guidelines by which they have to

         21  report certain variables?

         22                 I mean, I know for example if they

         23  decided not to include test scores on their school

         24  report cards, SED would come down on them

         25  immediately and hard, and all she would say is we
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          2  let New York City do their own report cards.

          3                 So, I think what it is is, what I

          4  call a longstanding devil's deal between SED and DOE

          5  on many, many issues, and this is one of them. And

          6  SED says we won't make you follow the rules if you

          7  don't make us follow the rules, and that's the case

          8  with class size reduction funding as well. They're

          9  both in violation of State Law, SED and DOE, because

         10  SED, in the terms of the legislation was required to

         11  make an annual report to the State Legislature on

         12  the efficacy and implementation of the program, and

         13  it has never once made a single report.  And that

         14  was also pointed out in the audit by the State

         15  Comptroller's Office.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, if you

         17  could just slow down a little bit. I'm trying to

         18  understand, when you say it was thrown out is

         19  unacceptable; in other words, you're saying that DOE

         20  submitted it and the State rejected it?

         21                 MS. HAIMSON: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And is

         23  there any correspondence about --

         24                 MS. HAIMSON: I don't have access to

         25  that information. And as I said, I find it very hard
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          2  to get that kind of information. But I'm sure you

          3  could.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How do you

          5  know that it was thrown out?

          6                 MS. HAIMSON: Through the UFT, from

          7  sources in the UFT I heard that that's what

          8  happened. And if you go to the 655 report itself,

          9  you can see that there is no data for New York City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And is there

         11  any explanation, I mean I'll check once we leave,

         12  but is there any explanation, I assume it's on the

         13  SED website?

         14                 MS. HAIMSON: There's no explanation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: There's no

         16  explanation.

         17                 So, why don't we make sure to send a

         18  letter to Commissioner Mills, asking for an

         19  explanation of what happened to the data, and let's

         20  send a letter to Klein finding out did he submit the

         21  data. 2002, that was under his tenure, right?

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         23  The staff at the State Education Department, on

         24  their own, deemed them so unreliable they threw them

         25  out. But the years that it shows up, the 655 report,
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          2  the class size, those were based on a mathematical

          3  formula of the State Education Department, not the

          4  basis data that principals filled out. They just

          5  created this and nobody knew that this data was the

          6  State Education Department's projections.

          7                 MS. HAIMSON: What's interesting is

          8  for all those years there is the relevant data in

          9  the Mayor's Management Report, but whatever SED has

         10  does not match up with the Mayor's Management

         11  Report.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What is your

         13  estimation of how the DOE counts? Isn't it a

         14  question of counting?

         15                 So, you're saying they don't count

         16  very well. If their data was thrown out, they don't

         17  count very well. Was that a fair statement?

         18                 MS. HAIMSON: Well, one of the things

         19  that --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It takes them

         21  a long time --

         22                 MS. HAIMSON: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The other

         24  thing that's frustrating, and I'm sorry to

         25  interrupt, the only thing that's frustrating is that
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          2  they don't count very well, and it takes them a

          3  really long time to count not very well.

          4                 MS. RACHMAN: And they have different

          5  ways of counting.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          7                 MS. RACHMAN: Whether one of the

          8  questions I understand about the year that was

          9  thrown out, had to do with counting teachers in

         10  relationship to classes, but they were sort of going

         11  -- and there was a question of whether they

         12  submitted data that was about how many teachers were

         13  actually teaching formal classes, or how many

         14  teachers had been assigned in a school and there may

         15  have been questions about whether that matched up

         16  one teacher to one class exactly.

         17                 So, I think part of it is all of

         18  these funny ways of counting, not just -- and

         19  varying ways of counting from one year to the next.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And I'm

         21  speaking out loud, to me it seems straight forward

         22  in most context.

         23                 Although, I did have a question, for

         24  example, in a CTT. Do you calculate the class size

         25  any differently when you have two teachers? Or is
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          2  your position that the class size is not a factor of

          3  how many teachers you have in the class.

          4                 I'm not asking how they do things.

          5  I'm asking should now. How should class size --

          6                 MS. HAIMSON: For one thing they

          7  should not include in the data any classes that do

          8  not exist. I would think that we could all agree

          9  with, and that's a very, very major problem, and I'm

         10  surprised that nobody followed up on that. It's also

         11  a potentially scandalous problem for the State,

         12  because they don't want to be paying for kids that

         13  do not exist, and this is a longstanding issue

         14  between the state and New York City, which is very

         15  sensitive.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Are you

         17  referring to this LTAs?

         18                 MS. HAIMSON: Long-term absent

         19  students, exactly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Now, are there

         21  other instances of phantom classes? You mentioned

         22  this five to one, five when they pull out.

         23                 MS. HAIMSON: What happened with the

         24  IBO is they immediately took the data, the audited C

         25  Register, and they threw out all classes that were
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          2  smaller than five and all classes that were larger

          3  than 50, and they threw out their bridge classes and

          4  they did their own calculations and they found that

          5  the DOE averages were wrong.

          6                 And it was interesting to me that

          7  there were so many classes of one to four kids that

          8  DOE had included in their calculations for many,

          9  many years, and I don't know what their audit,

         10  Auditor General, Inspector General Auditor does for

         11  DOE if they don't at least look at the class of one

         12  to four kids and say what are these classes? Because

         13  nobody knows whether these classes exist. It turns

         14  out that principals for years have been told that

         15  even more now to keep kids on the register and don't

         16  throw them out of their registered data because

         17  there are issues also now about illegal discharging.

         18  And they've been putting them in these classes, you

         19  know, on the register, which come to DOE as actual

         20  classrooms. But the questions I have, and the

         21  reasons I still don't trust the IBO data, they don't

         22  have the staff to go and figure out how many --

         23  there are many classes of five to 15 that they

         24  included in their data and I don't know of any

         25  classes that small in New York City public schools.
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          2                 Now, maybe they exist, maybe Gen Ed

          3  classes don't exist, but I have never heard of one.

          4                 So, I suspect that some of those

          5  classes may also be long-term absent students, I

          6  suspect that some of them may be special ed classes,

          7  miscoded, as Kathleen Grimm kind of hinted at

          8  earlier today. I think the high school averages --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Have you ever

         10  looked at the difference between the October 31st

         11  register and the Inspector General, the audit, have

         12  you ever?

         13                 MS. HAIMSON: I haven't looked

         14  systematically at it, no.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I found it a

         16  little surprising that they couldn't give me a

         17  general figure of discrepancy. You would think that

         18  that would be a figure, you know, I asked whether it

         19  was 100 kids or 100,000 kids. Has anyone here looked

         20  at whether they're generally off, even by their own,

         21  it sounds like from your perspective, faulty method,

         22  they're off?

         23                 MS. HAIMSON: I really wouldn't know,

         24  and George Sweeting of the IBO might have a better

         25  idea about that.
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          2                 But one of the reasons I think this

          3  bill is so important is hopefully to capture and not

          4  have to wait til later in the year what the actual

          5  class sizes are, also because of the issue of the

          6  UFT violations, which, you know, have gotten worse

          7  and worse and worse over the last few years. And

          8  essentially this, while there were over 11,000

          9  classes, where there were 35 or more kids, and in

         10  many cases the Administration waited two months to

         11  do something about that, they know they're sending

         12  in some cases hundreds more kids to certain schools,

         13  but they refuse to allow those schools to hire the

         14  teachers to make up for it. So, those kids end up

         15  sitting either in libraries or auditoriums, or

         16  getting no classes at all, and the official excuse

         17  of the DOE, which was what Kathleen Grimm and Carmen

         18  Farina said again today, is we're waiting for the

         19  registers to settle down.

         20                 Now, maybe in some cases kids are

         21  moving from school to school, or are leaving town

         22  all of a sudden, you know, in September 10th or 15th

         23  or whatever, but in many cases those kids are

         24  dropping out of school. And I think it's

         25  unconscionable to wait two months to encourage kids
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          2  to drop out of school by not providing them with

          3  proper classes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can I ask you

          5  this? I guess what I'm having a little trouble

          6  wrapping my mind around is, if you're saying that

          7  the reporting mechanisms that the DOE uses are

          8  faulty, and we have here a reporting bill, how am I

          9  going to make sure that I don't get faulty

         10  information?

         11                 MS. HAIMSON: Well, I think one of the

         12  things that will help is parents can then go to

         13  their own schools and find out what the averages

         14  are, find out what the different class sizes are and

         15  check on that level.

         16                 Also, when I gave you a mark-up of

         17  the bill, I specifically said in the language of the

         18  bill that this should not include any long-term

         19  absent students. Hopefully they're going to be

         20  looking at these issues more carefully in the

         21  future. And, also, the IBO will be able to get

         22  access to this data more quickly during the current

         23  school year, and that will also give us an

         24  additional check to see what their reporting is

         25  actually correct, because since the IBO only reports
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          2  the year after, it's very hard to go back track and

          3  see whether it was correct or not. So, I don't think

          4  it's foolproof, and I think it's very, very good

          5  that the State Comptroller is doing an audit now and

          6  hopefully DOE is going to be sensitive because of

          7  that to change --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: When will that

          9  be completed? Do we know?

         10                 MS. HAIMSON: Originally they said

         11  July. And they won't tell me anything more than

         12  that, and it may not actually be July but that's

         13  what they said initially.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And what was

         15  the scope of the audit? What did you ask them to do?

         16                 MS. HAIMSON: The scope of the audit

         17  was both to look at the City's use of the class size

         18  reduction funds, and their method of class size

         19  reporting, to see if it was accurate or inaccurate

         20  or what the problems with it were.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And did you

         22  say in your mark-up to the bill, which I haven't

         23  looked at yet, that we should also exclude these

         24  small classes of one to four?

         25                 MS. HAIMSON: No, I didn't say
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          2  specifically that, but since they don't exist, I

          3  would hope that they would exclude them.

          4                 I think if there are classes of one

          5  to four we should know about that too.

          6                 If there are classes, Gen Ed classes

          7  that are five to 15, we should know about them, know

          8  which schools and for what reason they are, you

          9  know. I mean, I think all data is important, and the

         10  thing is, the IBO, if they had the staff, would

         11  actually go and check at individual schools to see,

         12  you know, which of these classes were special ed,

         13  which of them really were gen ed, which of them were

         14  really phantom classes. They honestly don't have the

         15  staff. But to the life of me I can't understand why

         16  DOE, with its huge staff and its auditor general

         17  inspector or whatever the title is, has never done

         18  that. And they've known that this problem existed

         19  for years, because as I mentioned, you know, they

         20  were previously audited in 2003 and at that point,

         21  they were told that they were in violation,

         22  basically of state law on this, that they've only

         23  created 55 percent of classes that they had claimed

         24  under state law and yet they did nothing about it

         25  and, in fact, the situation is worse now than it was
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          2  then.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can I ask the

          4  parents a question? I can't remember whether it was

          5  the Deputy Chancellor for Instruction or

          6  Administration, but someone said, you know, all you

          7  have to do is join the SLT and if it's a priority,

          8  then you can reduce class size.

          9                 We've been joined by Council Member

         10  Leroy Comrie. Thank you for being here.

         11                 It doesn't sound like it was quite so

         12  simple. Can you speak to that issue, Ms. McCullagh.

         13                 MS. McCULLAGH: The question being

         14  that joining the SLT and then that takes care of

         15  everything?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, there

         17  was a suggestion that if you believe, if you as a

         18  parent believe that class size reduction is a

         19  priority, then through the SLT you can accomplish

         20  this. You know, no problem. Join the SLT and say

         21  class size reduction is a priority. It didn't sound

         22  quite so simple. What was the nature of the

         23  resistance that you experienced, leaving aside the

         24  data?

         25                 MS. McCULLAGH: Right. Well, in our
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          2  particular school our governance structure is a

          3  little different than the standard SLT. We have one.

          4  We also have from the school's inception a Steering

          5  Committee, a monthly meeting of parent

          6  representatives from every class. And also staff

          7  representatives, and the SLT was not the body that

          8  we would have headed to elections, we were not

          9  elected to that. We're new kindergarten parents,

         10  many of us just arrived in the school this year, and

         11  that was not where we found ourselves. And when we

         12  organized, after our parent breakfast in October, it

         13  was really just sharing our concerns and starting

         14  from there and what it was like for our children and

         15  what we saw, and then trying to figure out how to

         16  talk to teachers and how to have open dialogue with

         17  the principal.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Did the

         19  principal -- Carmen Farina testified that, you know,

         20  principals often have very good reason for not

         21  choosing to reduce class size. That they're saying

         22  to parents that if you want an art room, you can't

         23  have both an art room and reduce class size.

         24                 Did the principal make arguments

         25  about why she or he could not reduce class size? And
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          2  if so, what were they?

          3                 MS. McCULLAGH: There were a series of

          4  arguments. You can join in, Nick, as you recall

          5  them. There were initially some concerns expressed

          6  that if class size was reduced in the lower grades,

          7  it would force upper grade classes to become larger.

          8  Which, as we asked more questions, it became clear

          9  that there is no causal connection. It would only be

         10  because of budgeting, because each child brings a

         11  certain amount of dollars to the school, and in

         12  order for her to meet her budget goals, if there

         13  were fewer children in the early grades, she would

         14  then want to get more somewhere, more bodies to

         15  bring in the money that she needs to pay the

         16  salaries, and that would push her.

         17                 But it isn't linked. It's not like

         18  the school has to have X number of children. So, we

         19  had to understand that.

         20                 There were concerns about space,

         21  although the school, this particular school is

         22  gaining some rooms in the building that we're housed

         23  in, so we knew going into next year that that

         24  wouldn't really be an obstacle and this was an ideal

         25  time to raise that issue because of facilities, and
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          2  the largest concern that we heard most of the year

          3  and was expressed to many teachers, was the concern

          4  that there would be a loss of support staff. That

          5  the early class size reduction money was being used

          6  to pay for a floating teacher, as opposed to a

          7  classroom teacher.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm not even

          9  familiar with the concept. How do you have a

         10  floating kindergarten teacher?

         11                 MS. McCULLAGH: Well, push-in, a

         12  push-in model.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I've heard

         14  push-in for speech therapy.

         15                 MS. McCULLAGH: No, this is a person,

         16  I think that this, and as we've educated ourselves,

         17  Leonie, feel free, but the state class size

         18  reduction money is required to be used to open

         19  classrooms. Federal money. There's a bit of a

         20  loophole, partly because many schools don't have the

         21  room. So, the schools get federal money, and

         22  federally funded teachers, who if there is space,

         23  should be in classrooms. If there isn't space, can

         24  be used to float and so support the classrooms on

         25  the grade. I think there are schools in this City
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          2  that have up to eight classes on a grade, and

          3  floating teachers are at times divided between, you

          4  know, in my opinion a ridiculous number of classes.

          5  Their support is very watered down. It's not

          6  effective. Studies have been done to show that

          7  doesn't make sense.

          8                 The issue of what rooms is then the

          9  pressing one and we need to build more schools and

         10  all that.

         11                 But in our case, the Administrator,

         12  the school received salaries for three teachers, two

         13  full-time teachers were hired, one to support

         14  kindergartens, one to support the first grades, and

         15  one full-time position was divided up into three

         16  part-time, people who came for one day here, one day

         17  there, to do special things and be available.

         18  Enrichment, but also they're there to pull, if the

         19  teacher has to go to a doctor's appointment, bingo,

         20  you've got someone, put them in the classroom. For

         21  an administrator, there's just more room to breathe.

         22  And I could appreciate that, but...

         23                 So, teachers and parents were told in

         24  meetings that to reduce class size would result in

         25  less support for the school, for the teachers and
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          2  for the program. And sometimes it was a bit murky

          3  how what would be lost, would we lose our art

          4  teachers, would we lose our music teacher, what

          5  would we have to give up, it wasn't clearly outlined

          6  exactly who and exactly what does the school get and

          7  would be touched and what would be lost, and that

          8  seemed to be the concern that was consistent and

          9  sometimes confusing to teachers or worrying.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You mentioned

         11  at one point you had 75 parents in a room,

         12  presumably the kindergarten parents.

         13                 MR. BEDDELL: Not entirely. They were

         14  kindergarten, they were lower grade parents. There

         15  seemed to be a drop-off in the school of parent

         16  involvement after the third grade. I don't know if

         17  it's Citywide.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And did

         19  you contact others outside? Did you contact the LIS,

         20  did you contact the regional sup?

         21                 MS. McCULLAGH: No.

         22                 MR. BEDDELL: I mean, we contacted, we

         23  sort of did research around the issue and in other

         24  local schools in our area.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And when you
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          2  tried to get the information, who told you it was a

          3  matter of privacy? Was that a principal?

          4                 MS. McCULLAGH: Parent coordinators.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Parent

          6  coordinators. And they didn't put it in writing.

          7                 MR. BEDDELL: The part that I think

          8  caused the most difficulty for me was this model of

          9  three kindergarten classes and a push-in or a float

         10  was actually justified by the administration as

         11  more, as better educationally, and better because it

         12  allowed the push-in teacher to take a kid who was

         13  particularly struggling and our experience I think

         14  really contradicted that conclusion by her, because

         15  one of the hardest things in kindergarten for kids

         16  is the transition and sort of --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I have a first

         18  grader, so I know from kindergarten.

         19                 MR. BEDDELL: Right. And what my

         20  daughter is most -- the relationship that's primary

         21  in my daughter's life, other than the one that she

         22  has with me and my wife, is the one she has with her

         23  kindergarten teacher. And if there are 25 other kids

         24  in the classroom, it's less of a relationship than

         25  if there are 17 kids. And I just never seemed to
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          2  convince anybody, I mean I felt like a -- and

          3  ultimately all the arguments that came our way

          4  turned out to be not, in my opinion, holding a whole

          5  lot of water, and there's room in the building, it's

          6  not viable educationally and parents don't want it,

          7  and there was a lot of inertia in the

          8  administration, this is how we've done it for years,

          9  you don't understand, we're a different kind of

         10  school and these things don't apply to us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 Well, this is very, very helpful. We

         13  are going to go back to the drawing board with the

         14  bill and see if we can make some improvements.

         15                 We also have not sat down with the

         16  Administration yet on the particulars of the bill,

         17  so we very much --

         18                 MS. HAIMSON: Can I just make one more

         19  comment?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         21                 MS. HAIMSON: About something Carmen

         22  Farina said. Because unlike this school in

         23  particular, there is a problem of overcrowding

         24  throughout the system. And many schools cannot

         25  reduce class size no matter what. And the argument
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          2  why we need a Citywide policy to move in that

          3  direction, she used that as an excuse for why we

          4  shouldn't have a Citywide policy, because they said

          5  in many schools there wouldn't be the room, like at

          6  PS 6 or other schools, they would have to turn art

          7  rooms into science rooms -- I mean into classrooms

          8  or lose their gym or whatever. And that's exactly

          9  the quandary that we're at.

         10                 Without a policy, a centralized

         11  policy on the part of DOE that we are going to

         12  provide the facilities room and teachers to reduce

         13  classes systemwide. There is no opportunity for most

         14  individual schools to do this, and, so, her

         15  argument, in a sense, was contradictory as well.

         16                 MS. RACHMAN: I just wanted to add two

         17  quick points. One is whether or not classes can be

         18  reduced, class size can be reduced in some schools.

         19  In my son's middle school, which is a popular school

         20  in the neighborhood, and already overcrowded, the

         21  principal said recently to the school leadership

         22  team, that he had been directed by the region to

         23  accept 40 to 50 more students in the coming year.

         24  So, I mean the idea that things are left to, that

         25  there's very much left to the discretion of the
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          2  principal, of the leadership team, you know, is

          3  really laughable.

          4                 The second point, someone on the

          5  Committee asked the question earlier about the

          6  Certificate of Occupancy, and I would urge you to

          7  really pursue that issue, because that document

          8  gives a real capacity for the building, in terms of

          9  the number of people who should occupy it. It also

         10  lays out from the school's beginning how many

         11  classrooms there are supposed to be.

         12                 I have not heard recently of anyone

         13  going back to change the C of O for, you know, a

         14  given school building, as these capacities keep

         15  changing. And it appeared to me that no one directly

         16  answered that question when Councilman Martinez I

         17  think asked it, and, so, I would urge you to, you

         18  know, pull out a few --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have one

         20  here, actually.

         21                 MS. RACHMAN: -- And go back and look

         22  at, count how many classes are there now. If the

         23  original C of O said 25 classrooms, you know,

         24  whatever hundreds of people, let's see what's there

         25  now. How many of those classrooms, how many
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          2  classrooms are there now? How many children are

          3  there now? Because the C of O was for safety

          4  reasons. You know, the Buildings Department didn't

          5  know much about education, they were laying out the

          6  safety requirements for that building, and so I

          7  think it's an important issue to pursue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Great. Thank

          9  you very, very much for your testimony. We are going

         10  to call this meeting to a conclusion, but we thank

         11  you very, very much, and we will be in contact with

         12  you as we revise the bill.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 12:33 p.m.)
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